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Disclosure Index
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Other requirements under Standing Directions 4.2
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SD 4.2(d) Rounding of amounts FS
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Protected Disclosure Act 2012 RO 10
Carers Recognition Act 2012 RO 10
Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 RO 11
Building Act 1993 RO 11
Financial Management Act 1994 FS
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Responsible Bodies Declaration
In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, I am 
pleased to present the Report of Operations for Mansfield 
District Hospital for the year ending 30 June 2015.

Rowan Swaney
Board Chair

Mansfield
20 August 2015

Report from the Board Chair 
& Chief Executive Officer
On behalf of the Mansfield District Hospital Board of 
Management we are pleased to present the 144th Annual 
Report and the audited Balance Sheet and Financial 
Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015.

Mansfield District Hospital (MDH) was established in 1876 
to provide health care services to the Mansfield district. 
Today it provides 24 hour 7 day per week medical, surgical, 
obstetric, dialysis and emergency services to the community. 
It also provides 72 residential aged care beds, a visiting 
nursing service and an outreach community health service.  
The main buildings associated with the hospital are some 
137 years old, albeit there has been some redevelopment 
and refurbishment since this time.

Governance 

The Board of Management is responsible for the governance 
of Mansfield District Hospital (MDH).  This includes:
• Strategic direction
• Overseeing finance and service performance  
•  Responding and adapting to challenges such as 

population growth and changing demographics and;
•  Meeting the expectations regarding regulatory and 

government policy requirements and standards

The Board of Management meets monthly and receives 
various reports and information from several committees. 
This information is used to guide the Board decision making.

Gratitude
Every year it is important to acknowledge and thank the 
group of dedicated and committed people working at the 
MDH. This extends to staff in all departments, volunteers 
and Visiting Medical Officers who strive to provide a quality 
service in their area of expertise.

The Board of Management and Chief Executive Officer 
continue to recognise the hard work, dedication and 
commitment demonstrated by staff in meeting the challenges 
of the past year. Again, we extend our appreciation to all 
staff for the excellent care and support they provide. Thank 
you must also be extended to our wonderful volunteers who 
continue to support us with special patient and resident 
purchases and programs.  We recognise the importance of 
the work they do and their efforts are enormously appreciated 
and greatly valued.

We also express our gratitude to Visiting Medical Officers 
from Central General Practice and Mansfield Medical Clinic 
for their continued support and service to the Mansfield 
District Hospital. This year we farewelled Dr Jo Davey, Dr 
Justin Titmarsh, Dr Alan Taylor and welcomed Dr Darren 
LeBroque, Dr Benjamin Nally, Dr Emily Harrison and Dr 
Benjamin Kabbabe.  The medical team’s active involvement 
with patient care planning, education and training and 
strategy development are major factors in the ongoing 
success of MDH. 

We extend a well deserved thank you to our two Auxiliaries 
(Hospital and Bindaree) for their ongoing fundraising efforts 
throughout the year. MDH is particularly appreciative of 
our Auxiliaries for their continued support and hard work.  
Funds raised by the Auxiliaries go towards equipment that 
enhances patient and resident care. On behalf of the Board 
of Management and Staff, we extend our sincerest gratitude 
to everyone who contributed to all fundraising efforts 
throughout the year. 

Sincere thanks must be extended to members of the Board 
of Management, Murray Beattie, Gill Belle, Jane Freemantle, 
Ann Lahore, and Jeremy Madin who have worked tirelessly 
throughout the year in their capacity as non-executive 
Directors of the organisation.  This year Robert Beekman 
(previous Board Chair), Jenny Brown, Tony Cipa, and Len 
Foster departed the Board of Management and we thank 
them for their contribution to improving services at MDH.

Dr Graham Slaney continued to represent the medical 
officers in his capacity as VMO representative to the Board. 
We thank him for giving so generously of his time to provide 
expert advice on medical and other clinical issues.  

We also acknowledge the contribution made by our 
independent Audit & Risk Management Committee 
members, Jaya Naidu, Geoff Gravenall and Belinda 
Langlands (resigned June 2015). Their expertise and advice 
has proven extremely valuable over the past 12 months and 
we thank them for their wise counsel. 

Governance
Community Engagement
Part of the Board’s governance responsibilities extends 
to ensuring there is active community participation in the 
planning and evaluation of current and future health services.

MDH Community Liaison Committee aims to provide an 
opportunity for feedback on how to improve the delivery 
of services and keep the community informed about the 
health services available.  Feedback through forums gives 
the Board an insight into quality and service delivery from a 
patient and community perspective.  In March 2015 a Café 
Chat style forum was held with invited representatives from 
the community and other community services. This forum 
raised a number of issues for the Board of Management to 
consider as part of its strategic planning process.

Strategic Initiatives
Our biggest achievement this year has been the building of 
the Primary Care Centre (PCC).
The PCC will provide a range of benefits and improvements 
for the local community.  The goal of the service is to 
provide coordinated, integrated, responsive, efficient and 
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sustainable primary and community care services.  A ‘one-
stop-shop’ where people can make one phone call or visit 
one service to access the primary health care services they 
require.
Planning for the PCC commenced many years ago with 
funding approved from the Commonwealth in late 2013.  
The total build cost of $1.55M is made up of $1.356M 
from the Commonwealth Department of Health and the 
remainder from local donations including $124,000 from 
the Mason Bequest through the Harry and Clare Friday 
Foundation, $73,000 from the 2013 Annual Hospital Appeal 
and generous contributions from local community groups for 
the purchase of equipment including new renal chairs and 
consulting tables.

The building planning commenced in February 2014 with 
the building contract awarded to local builder Raffindale 
Nominees.  Building commenced in September 2014 with a 
completion date of June 2015.  The building is now complete 
and staff will move into the centre over the next few weeks.  
Extensive redevelopment of the gardens at the front of the 
hospital is also planned to commence when the weather is 
a little warmer.

Flexibility is a key point of the design as rooms are able to 
have multiple uses ensuring additional space as services 
expand.  The Renal Unit will also move to the PCC and will 
provide space for a much needed additional dialysis chair.  

The Hon. Sussan Ley, MP, Member for Farrer, Minister for 
Health and Minister for Sport officially opened the PCC on 
the 9th July 2015.  

The Board of Management will continue to provide oversight 
and implementation of our strategic plan and looks forward 
to continuing its successful engagement with all its key 
stakeholders in pursuing the interests of the community of 
Mansfield and district.

Operations Report

2014-2015 has been another busy year for all staff and 
Visiting Medical Officers. The following report is a ‘snap-
shot’ of MDH’s operations during the financial year.

Workforce development
‘Hardwiring for Excellence’ program
MDH continues to work with the Studer Group to conduct its 
“Hardwiring for Excellence” program to assist MDH Heads of 
Department build organisational capacity and accountability 
through the empowerment of staff.

The goals of Studer are to develop a service culture that 
is able to sustain goals in operational excellence; attract 
and retain talented staff; be financially accountable; has 
excellent clinical outcomes; uses employee generated 
ideas for improvement and maintains patient and resident, 
employee and physician satisfaction at high levels. 

The success of the program has been measurable and will 
continue through 2015/16.  It will be expanded to further 
develop skills across the organisation. 

Increasing workforce capacity
MDH has consistently focussed on education and training 
to ensure we provide high quality care to our residents 
and patients, and to continue to support organisational 

recruitment and retention. Some of the workforce strategies 
included the ongoing support to an existing RN to study 
for their Graduate Diploma in Midwifery.  We have now 
supported six RN’s to gain their midwifery qualification, five 
of whom are still on staff at MDH.  2015 will see four Early 
Graduates, including a Midwifery Graduate complete their 
1st postgraduate year in our supported collaborative regional 
model. This innovative collaborative model was presented 
at the 2014 People in Health Conference in Melbourne. 
A number of other employees were also supported to up-
skill including three Personal Care Workers who have 
enhanced their qualification to Certificate IV in Aged Care 
and three enrolled nurses working towards their registered 
nursing qualification. We also continue to support school 
based apprenticeships with two traineeships in aged care 
conducted (one completed) during the financial year.

In preparation for the launch of the long awaited Midwifery 
Model – Midwifery Group Practice, we were pleased to 
collaborate with the midwifery team in the provision of 
education to the nursing staff to ensure that they were best 
able to support both midwifery patients and staff in this new 
model of care. 

Student training
MDH has taken bookings for 40 students for a total of 540 days 
in the calendar year of 2015 (this reflects a gradual increase 
from 2011 figures of 41%). Our student accommodation 
continues to be well utilised. MDH also continues to partner 
with the University of Melbourne through its “Extended Rural 
Cohort” program for medical students.

A comprehensive and responsive education calendar is 
maintained to ensure that all mandatory and other training 
requirements are met, addressing the broad range of 
clinical services provided at MDH. This calendar is based on 
many factors including an annual training needs analysis, 
collaborative planning across the region, mandatory training, 
and the Acute, Aged Care and Community Standards of 
Care.

Visiting medical officers
MDH is fortunate in contracting eighteen local General 
Practitioners and five Visiting Specialists. Of the local GPs, 
three are GP obstetricians and five are GP anaesthetists. 
Every year four medical officers take on a VMO Coordinator 
role for the clinical areas of:

• Obstetrics
• Anaesthetics
• Emergency
• Acute & aged care

The VMOs are instrumental in supporting education and 
training and they also run the medical clinic at nearby Mt 
Buller during the snow season. The VMOs support MDH 
nursing staff, medical and nursing students, to rotate through 
the clinic to gain essential experience in minor and major 
trauma.

Primary Care Precinct
The Primary Care Centre will be a new and exciting addition 
to services provided at MDH.  Three services transferred 
from Benalla Community Health.  These include a Dietician, 
Diabetes Educator and Health Promotion/Community 
Nurse.  In addition to these services we have been able 
to employ a Speech Pathologist and are advertising for an 
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Occupational Therapist and Social Worker.  We have also 
signed a Memorandum of Understanding with Mansfield 
Shire Council to further develop primary health services and 
avoid duplication of services.

Supporting Self-Managed Healthcare
MDH continues to provide self-managed healthcare through 
its Cardiac Rehabilitation and Diabetes Education support 
programs. To the end of June 2015, MDH had conducted 
40 cardiac rehabilitation program days and 40 diabetes 
education program days. This year our Cardiac Rehabilitation 
Coordinator undertook ‘rounding’ conversations with a 
number of participants rather than the traditional paper 
survey. All participants interviewed commented on how 
grateful they were that cardiac rehabilitation was available 
in Mansfield and that they didn’t have to travel further afield. 
They also felt the program was very educational and, in 
particular, provided an opportunity for male participants 
to share their thoughts and feelings with other male 
participants, something they found hard to do outside of the 
support group.

Consumer Participation
Each year the Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey 
seeks to discover the experience of people, sixteen and 
over, who have been admitted to one of Victoria’s public 
hospitals.  In January to March 2015, 98% of patients from 
MDH rated their overall hospital experience as either ‘very 
good’ or ‘good’.  On the question of how you rated the care 
you received in hospital, MDH received a rating of 97.9%, 
well above the State average of 91.7%.  MDH achieved a 
higher than State average score across all questions asked.  
This demonstrates the commitment all staff and doctors 
have to the provision of excellent care.  

Person Centred Care
The nursing team continue to advance the process of person 
centred care. The implementation of the Patient Care Boards 
at the bedside provides the opportunity to involve not only the 
patient and staff, but also their families and/or carers in the 
development of care plans.  Following admission all patients 
are assessed against risk assessment tools in relation to 
their risk of falling, pressure injury and other clinical risks. 
These plans are developed with the patient/relative/carer 
which allows all parties to have input into the care plan.

The use of ‘new technology’ through the Patient Experience 
Tracker has enabled the staff to assess their performance 
within the Urgent Care Centre. The Patient Experience 
Tracker (PET) is an electronic tablet which has 5 questions.  
These are directly related to the relevant area being assessed. 
The community of Mansfield expects a professional service 
when they attend the urgent care centre.  The direct and 
immediate patient feedback available following the use of 
the PET gives the staff accurate information about how they 
are performing. The PET is also used in the acute ward to 
evaluate the care and information provided to patients when 
undergoing administration of blood or blood products. The 
results are reported weekly and monthly, discussed at staff 
meetings and displayed for all staff to read.

The organisation’s commitment to person centred care 
has remained a focus for the clinical staff.  The mandatory 
training day discussion has progressed to be inclusive of all 
components of person centred care including the role the 
non-clinical staff plays in the provision of holistic care.

The implementation of Advance Care Plans remains a high 
priority, with planned medical and community education to 
occur in 2016. A multidisciplinary team is working to develop 
and implement advance care planning across the facility.

Continuous Improvement & Innovation
MDH continues to review the systems used to analyse 
clinical incidents across the facility. Only continued review 
and investigation will enable incidents to be reduced.  Further 
development in the process of medication management is 
the implementation of individual competency assessments.  
The Clinical Support Nurse attends these with direct 
care staff across all departments within the organisation.  
Through this process changes have been implemented 
in the assessment of patients on admission to reduce the 
risk of pressure injury. Equipment has been purchased that 
assists reduction of the risk of pressure injury to patients and 
residents.

All clinical incident data continues to be reported monthly to 
the Board of Management and Quality Assurance Committee. 
A review of the process for case review meetings has been 
attended. The focus is now on a style of presentation which 
aligns with morbidity and mortality reviews.

The Active Service Model of Care is now well embedded 
into every day practice within the Visiting Nursing Service.  
Goal directed care has resulted in many great outcomes for 
clients. Goals have been set and achieved in collaboration 
with the nursing team and clients have been able to regain 
independence and subsequently have been discharged 
from the service.  
Work continues in the development of Advanced Care 
Planning with all departments working together to support 
implementation of care plans that clearly articulate an 
individual’s care wishes in the event that they lose capacity 
to communicate their choices to health care providers.

Working Collaboratively
MDH has been working closely with Benalla Community 
Health to transfer services to be provided from the newly built 
Primary Health Centre.  To facilitate this complex process 
planning began over twelve months ago with a mapping 
exercise to identify all of the issues identified as requiring 
action.  Communication between and regular meetings 
ensured a smooth transition of services and staff to MDH.  
Consultation has also occurred with relevant community 
members to identify the additional services that we will be 
able to provide in the centre.   

To ensure safe and high quality care for our clients receiving 
renal dialysis MDH maintains a robust relationship with 
Melbourne Health who provides all of our protocols and 
reviews of the service provided.  The renal dialysis unit will 
be moving from the acute hospital setting to the new primary 
care precinct in August.  This will enable appropriate clinical 
care to be carried out in a relaxed, non-acute environment.

MDH signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with 
Mansfield Shire Council this year.  
The purpose of MoU is to establish the framework for a 
working relationship between Mansfield Shire Council and 
Mansfield District Hospital.   The MoU outlines agreed 
principles and outcomes to improve health and wellbeing 
services for the Mansfield Shire community.  In doing so, 
the programme of collaboration acknowledges the strengths 
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and capacity of each participant and aims to identify 
opportunities for community contribution.  

The MoU is designed to complement and support other 
network and government initiatives with the aim of achieving 
the objectives as outlined in this document.  

Technology Innovation
MDH experiences between 3700 and 3900 presentations 
to its Urgent Care Centre each year. In 2014-2015, MDH 
implemented a telehealth project in partnership with North 
East Health and other Hume region health services.  This 
service has now been expanded to include the ability to 
telehealth with the Adult Retrieval Team Victoria (ARV).  ARV 
are able to clinically assess a patient in our Urgent Care 
Centre and discuss with our doctors the most appropriate 
referral centre and transport.  This process eliminates time 
and improves the patient journey.  

Fundraising and Donations
We are extremely grateful to the following ‘major’ donors 
who supported the organisation during the year:
• Alpine Country Car Club Jamieson 
• Ann and Jim Lahore
• Australian Communities Foundation
• Betty Gale
• Bill and Shirley Glen
• Bindaree Auxiliary
• Douglas Barkley
• Dr Will Twycross
• Eisners Pharmacy
• Hanlon Foundation
• Harry & Clare Friday Foundation
• Jamieson Community Group
• Jan Hassall
• Jo and Graham Boone
• John Canavan
• Mansfield District Hospital Auxiliary
• Mansfield Golf Club
• Mansfield Mt Buller Bus Lines 
• Marks Super IGA
• Mt Buller / Mt Stirling Resort Management

• Noreen O’Brien
• Peter MacKay Bequest
• Rotary Club of Mansfield
• The Calvert-Jones Foundation
• The Peter MacKay Bequest
• Third Hand Volunteers
• Trade Golf Day

Some of the items purchased this year include:
• Bench seat
• Portascan probe
• Light meter
• Power drive for bariatric wheelchair
• Bariatric scales
• Weigh scales
• Bariatric wheelchair
• Examination tables
• Renal chairs
• Standing machine
• Ultrasound machine
• Syringe pump
• Flat screen TV for Bindaree 
On behalf of the Board and Staff of Mansfield District 
Hospital, we sincerely thank every single person who 
contributed, either directly or indirectly, to the organisation’s 
fundraising activities during the year.

Rowan Swaney Marianne Warren
Chair, Board of Chief Executive Officer
Management
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Mansfield District Hospital 
Auxiliary Report
Another successful year of fund raising for the Hospital 
Auxiliary.  This financial year, our efforts yielded a total of $ 
36,823.00.

Our first function for the year was a Gourmet Food and 
Wine Tasting at Megan Knapp’s facility in Barjarg.  Megan’s 
food was, as always, simply inspired and the wines kindly 
provided by Delatite Wine for the tastings were delicious.  
A commentary by vigneron Andy Browning proved most 
entertaining, and a painting by Dudley Parker was auctioned 
as bonus fundraiser.

We experimented with changing the opening night of our Art 
Show from the usual Friday night to Thursday night and this 
was met with mixed feelings and left some artists and patrons 
alike confused.  We will be returning to the original format of 
a Friday night opening.  The Art Show itself was fantastic 
with a very high standard of works and prizes sponsored by 
Rotary, and the Harry & Clare Friday Foundation.  For the 
first time, the People’s Choice Award was a monetary prize 
that the Mansfield Courier sponsored for the first year.  We 
will be searching for a new People’s Choice sponsor for this 
year’s Art Show.

Our Annual Golf Day was a wonderful day.  The weather 
co-operated and the 18 hole format worked well.   Local 
business, individuals and even some donors from out of town 
generously supported the event and we hope this continues 
for the foreseeable future.  Thank you to Craig Willis for 
acting as M.C. on the night, Chris Durkin for providing such 
a wonderful meal, the golf club for loaning us the facilities 
and to all those who worked tirelessly to run the event.

We have recently had three members of the Auxiliary 
step down for various reasons – Mary Webster, Shelly 
Commerford, and Robyn Baker.  Fortunately, two of these 
women have chosen to join the “Friends” of the Auxiliary and 
we have three new members to fill their vacancies – Joan 
Ironmonger, Francoise Fleurus, and Catherine Ritchie.  

We are currently planning the next Art Show and looking at 
a few new fundraising ideas, so watch out for our posters 
and notices around town and mark the dates in your diaries. 

Susan Swan
President
Mansfield District Hospital Auxiliary

Bindaree Auxiliary Report
This has been my first year as President of the Bindaree 
Auxiliary and it has been a very busy one for all our willing 
members who have given up their time to support the 
residents of Bindaree.  Thank you to everyone.

Our major fundraising events were the ever popular Bridge 
and Mahjong Day in September and a fun Movie Lunch to 
premiere “A Royal Night Out”.  For the first time the Bindaree 
Auxiliary took over the making and raffling of the Hospital 
Quilt at Easter which raised in excess of $2,300.  My thanks 
go to Ann Herbert who helped me make the quilt and to 
Country Tales Bookshop for displaying the quilt in their 
window and selling raffle tickets.  

The Auxiliary has also joined in the fun of running a stall at 
the Mansfield Bushmarket.  The inaugural stall was at Easter 
this year where we sold a huge number of Granny Belle’s 
knitted slippers and other knitted baby garments as well as 
homemade cakes and biscuits and drew the lucky winner 
of the Quilt Raffle.  A big thank you to everyone for their 
wonderful contributions.  And a very special thank you to 
the Mansfield Veterinary Clinic who generously sponsored 
our stall.

A dinner function was held at the Golf Club by the Mansfield 
Masonic Lodge who generously helped us fund the purchase 
of a motor for a bariatric wheelchair.

The weekly Shopping Trolley continues to be a huge success 
and is looked forward to greatly by the residents.  

The Auxiliary has made many purchases to benefit the 
residents at Bindaree including new Christmas decorations, 
additional Large Print Songbooks, outdoor chairs, a new flat 
top BBQ, and side tables for the Collie Lounge.  Music and 
singing is a very positive activity for the residents and we were 
pleased to provide a CD pack of the piano accompaniment 
to the Large Print Songbooks.  This meant that the Activities 
Staff could hold a singalong at any time without the need for 
a pianist.  A singalong is now held every Thursday morning 
and is particularly beneficial to those Shaw Wing residents 
who come along and join in.  We were also lucky enough 
to be given 25 chairs by the Mansfield Golf Club following 
the refurbishment of their dining room.  These chairs have 
replaced old outdoor chairs in the Shaw Wing and the Felton 
Garden.

The garden continues to be improved.  We have planted 
some new trees on the south side of Bindaree and a trellis 
has been erected on a south wall to support an espaliered 
camellia.  Thank you to Don Uren for his expertise and to 
the Garden Club for their ongoing support maintaining and 
improving the gardens.

This year marked the generous donation to Mansfield of a 
new Community Bus by the Friday Foundation.  This now 
enables the residents of Bindaree to go on more outings and 
the Auxiliary has funded the training of an additional driver 
who will be available as needed.  

In conclusion I would like to thank our Secretary Gail Fletcher 
and Treasurer Lyn Uren for their support and hard work and 
thank all our members who continue to support the residents 
of Bindaree.

Linda Tucker
President
Bindaree Auxiliary
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History of the Hospital
In September 1869 a meeting was held in Mansfield where it 
was decided to proceed with the establishment of a hospital for 
the town.
The Mansfield Independent carried a report of the meeting that 
heard that £92 had been subscribed by the public. Although 
there was opposition within the ranks, the committee decided 
to build a hospital rather than rent a building. A month later the 
committee had £115 in hand.
The foundation stone was laid on January 11th 1871 by the 
hospital’s first president, Alfred Chenery.
By May of that year the building was sufficiently advanced for 
the committee to recruit staff and, after advertising for a matron 
appointed Miss Harriet Quirk “to commence duty from the 1st 
of June”.
Dr Samuel Reynolds, one of the founders of the Mansfield 
Benevolent Association and the town’s only practising doctor 
had previously been appointed medical officer.
At the end of June, according to the Independent, “The 
Secretary reported that on the 21st of June he had placed the 
nurse, Miss Quirk, in possession of the hospital and it was now 
open for the reception of patients…”
The first building had two wards, one for males and one for 
females. Each ward had six beds.
According to newspaper reports from the time, most of the 
admissions were the result of mining accidents. The use of 
chloroform in operations to reset broken bones was reported 
about this time.
Within a short time it became apparent more room was needed 
and a new wing was opened in 1874.
According to hospital records, the hospital was incorporated as 
a public hospital in 1876.
In 1916 Bentley House began operating as a private hospital 
for midwifery. Under widely used rules at the time, most public 
hospitals would not accept confinement cases, a practice that 
seems to have continued well into the 20th century. Later, in 
1952, Bentley was purchased by the hospital and initially used 
as accommodation for the nursing staff and the matron.
A major development in 1935 saw the main north-south wards 
constructed, significantly increasing the size of the hospital.
During the 1960s the midwifery and theatre block were added 
and in 1975 the hospital converted Bentley House to an aged 
care facility with 10 beds. In 1983 the Buckland Wing was 
added, bringing the nursing home accommodation to 20 beds. 
A further 10 beds were added in 1996. 
Recognising the ongoing generosity of the Buckland 
Foundation, the redeveloped Bentley House and Buckland 
Wing were renamed Buckland House in 1996.
In 2000 the Bindaree Retirement Centre amalgamated with the 
Mansfield District Hospital, giving the hospital a complete range 
of aged care facilities.
In 2003 Bindaree was expanded to comprise 42 beds, including 
an 11 bed Dementia unit and 2 respite beds, and 8 independent 
living units on site.
In 2015 the Primary Care Centre was completed.  This new 
service will provide coordinated, integrated, responsive, efficient 
and sustainable primary and community care services, a ‘one-
stop-shop’ where people can make one phone call or visit one 
service to access the primary health care services they require.
During 2014 - 2015 year the responsible Ministers for the 
Mansfield District Hospital were:
The Honourable Jill Hennessy MLA, Minister for Health                4 
December 2014 to 30 June 
Martin Foley MLA, Minister for Mental Health                              
4 December 2014 to 30 June
Martin Foley MLA, Minister for Housing, Disability and Ageing    
4 December 2014 to 30 June
Jenny Mikakos MLC, Minister for Families and Children               4 
December 2014 to 30 June
The Honourable. David Davis MLC, Minister for Health, Minister 
for Ageing 1 July 2014 to 3rd December
The Honourable Mary Wooldridge MLA, Minister for Mental 
Health 1 July 2014 to 3 December

The Honourable Mary Wooldridge MLA, Minister for Community 
Services 1 July 2014 to 3 December
The Honourable Mary Wooldridge MLA, Minister for Disability 
Services and Reform 1 July 2014 to 3 December 

The range of services offered by the  
Organisation includes:
General Medicine Cardiac Rehabilitation
Urgent Care Community and Primary   
 Health Services
Aged Care Services  Meals on Wheels
- Nursing Home  Paediatrics
- Hostel Care  Palliative Care
- Respite Care  Physiotherapy
- Independent Living Units Podiatry
 Surgery  Renal Dialysis
- Endoscopy  Obstetrics and Prenatal   
- General Education
- Gynaecological  Visiting Nursing Services
- Orthopaedic  Diabetic Education
Diagnostic Services Speech Pathology
- Pathology Collection Dietician
- Radiology
- Ultrasound 

Statutory objectives
Registered Objectives

i.  To ensure high standards of health care are consistent 
with the agreed clinical service level of the agency 
by provision of professional health care in medicine, 
surgery, obstetrics, geriatrics, paediatrics, accident 
and emergency medicine, community health and in 
paramedical services along with continuing review of 
the quality and adequacy of such services.

ii.  To maintain responsible management of human, 
financial and other resources so that there can be a 
continuing program for quality improvement in facilities 
and equipment, as well as education programs to 
promote expertise and ensure optimal patient care.

iii.  To promote a safe and healthy environment for patients, 
staff and visitors by means of education, promotion and 
continuing review of occupational health and safety 
issues.

iv.  To be responsive to the total health care needs of 
the community by providing a base for community 
health support groups, community education and 
health promotion programs in cooperation with other 
community based health care providers.

v.  To introduce Quality Improvement Management 
strategies to monitor performance and coordinate 
and review all quality assurance activities, under the 
direction of the Board of Management.

Aged Care Objectives
i.  To ensure an effective quality management system is in 

place which is suitable and effective to meet the overall 
aims of the Home and Hostel, the Department of Social 
Services and the Aged Care Accreditation Standards.

ii.  To value the right of residents and to treat them with 
dignity, respect and understanding and to offer them 
choices and give them the opportunity to develop 
their full potential in an atmosphere and environment 
designed to meet their individual needs.

iii.  To continue to provide systems and processes where 
residents will be treated fairly and offered equal 
opportunity to develop and be listened to.

iv. To promote standards of comfort, safety and hygiene.
v. To value the well-being of the community it serves.
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Occupational Health & Safety

Policy and Commitment Statement
To ensure that the organisation, and all staff employed 
by the organisation, are clear with regards to their joint 
responsibilities for establishing and maintaining a healthy 
and safe environment for all patients, residents, clients, 
visitors and staff.

Chief Executive Statement
The Mansfield District Hospital has continued to demonstrate 
its commitment during the 2014-2015 year to providing a 
healthy and safe workplace for all. 

The Board of Management and Executive Team continue 
to work with staff to ensure a workplace culture committed 
to occupational health and safety is maintained and further 
developed. Not only it is our legal responsibility to provide 
a safe workplace, it is our moral responsibility to protect all 
persons working in or visiting our establishments.

Managing Occupational Health & Safety
Our organisation has a number of systems and processes 
in place to manage occupational health and safety in the 
workplace. These include, but are not limited to:
• hazard identification and reporting system
• incident / accident identification and reporting system
• internal audit system
• occupational health and safety action plan
• occupational health and safety committee

• occupational health and safety representatives
• designated safety officer
• document control system
• education and training program
•  trend analysis of relevant OHS data including OHS 

performance data
• management review committee
• risk assessment and management system
• workplace assessments

The Occupational Health and Safety Committee, 
in conjunction with the Quality and Risk Managers, 
systematically assess, report, eliminate or control hazards 
and risks through the systems and processes identified 
above on a monthly basis. Where a hazard or risk poses an 
immediate threat, the Quality or Risk Manager will initiate 
action without the approval of the OHS Committee in order 
to ensure the safety of staff, patients, residents, clients or 
visitors. Other hazards and risks are discussed by the OHS 
committee (which has representation from all departments 
within the organisation) to devise strategies to effect 
positive outcomes. These processes also help us to assess 
occupational health and safety in the workplace.

Training and Staff Induction
All new employees are required to undergo occupational 
health and safety training relevant to their areas as part of 
their orientation program. 

Statistical Indicators
Currently we collect data for statistical purposes on 

Revised & updated: April 2015 
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workplace incidents, the number of worker’s compensation 
claims made, and trends in worker’s compensation costs 
and premiums. These trends are reported through our 
Quality Assurance/Management Review Committee which 
meets on a bi-annual basis and has formal representation 
from all departments, including the Board of Management.

Incidents
All incidents within the organisation are documented 
electronically, analysed and action is implemented. Trends 
on all types of incidents and accidents are reported 
regularly to the Occupational Health and Safety Committee 
monthly meetings and bi-annually to the Quality Assurance/
Management Review Committee meetings.

Contribution by Employees
The organisation operates a ‘suggestion for improvement’ 
process; this enables all staff members to offer suggestions 
for improvements in the area of occupational health and 
safety. While we have many ‘formal’ processes in place to 
enable employees to contribute to improving and managing 
the occupational health and safety system, the hospital still 
maintains an ‘open-door’ policy to Executive Management 
for staff who have any concerns about the workplace 
environment.

On behalf of the Occupational 
Health & Safety Committee

Attestation on Data Integrity

Statutory Authority and other relevant agency 

I, Rowan Swaney certify that Mansfield District Hospital has 
complied with the Ministerial Standing Direction 4.5.5 – Risk 
Management Framework and Processes. The Mansfield 
District Hospital Audit and Risk Committee verify this. 

 

Rowan Swaney
Board Chair

Mansfield
20th August 2015

Risk Management

I, Rowan Swaney, certify that the Mansfield District Hospital 
has risk management processes in place consistent with the 
AS/NZA ISO 31000:2009 and an internal control system is 
in place that enables the executive to understand, manage 
and satisfactorily control risk exposures. The Audit and Risk 
Management Committee verifies this assurance and attests 
that the risk profile of the Mansfield District Hospital has 
been critically reviewed within the last 12 months.

 
Rowan Swaney
Board Chair

Mansfield
20th August 2015

The Audit and Risk Management Committee meet on a 
quarterly basis to review the organisation’s risk management 
plan, calendar of risk activities and internal controls for 
identifying, monitoring and controlling risk to a satisfactory 
level. The Committee has three external independent 
members with extensive experience in the areas of audit 
and risk management. In 2014-2015 the organisation 
engaged Crowe Horwath, Albury as their internal auditors 
who independently audited internal systems and processes 
according to an annual internal auditing plan. Reports were 
reviewed by the Audit and Risk Management Committee 
and ratified by the Board of Management. Follow up reviews 
are conducted on an annual basis. Following a review by 
the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority (VMIA) in 2011, 
Mansfield District Hospital put a formal ‘Attestation Policy 
and Procedure’ in place. This process enables the Board of 
Management and Audit and Risk Management Committee 
to verify that what we say is being done in relation to risk 
management is actually being done. Formal monitoring 
on a quarterly basis by the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee of the Attestation process continues to prove 
effective.

Compliance with Relevant Acts, 
Regulations & Guidelines
The organisation is committed to complying with Victorian 
State Government Policy and endeavours to ensure it meets 
those requirements.

Freedom of Information Act 1982
The organisation is subject to the provisions of the Freedom 
of Information Act 1982.

In the 2014-2015 year, 22 applications were made to the 
organisation under these provisions. All requests were 
approved and processed.

Protected Disclosure Act 2012
Mansfield District Hospital does not tolerate improper 
conduct by its employees or reprisals being taken against 
those who disclose such conduct, including under the 
Protected Disclosure Act 2012 (Vic). Mansfield District 
Hospital supports the disclosure of corrupt conduct, conduct 
involving a substantial mismanagement of public resources 
or a substantial risk to public health and safety or the 
environment.

Complaints about certain serious misconduct or corruption 
involving public health services in Victoria can be made by 
individuals directly to the Independent Broad-based Anti-
corruption Commission (IBAC). Mansfield District Hospital 
encourages individuals to raise their concerns about corrupt 
or improper conduct directly with IBAC.

Mansfield District Hospital is committed to extend the 
protections under the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 (Vic) 
to individuals who make protected disclosures under that 
Act, or who cooperate with investigations into protected 
disclosures. 

Carers Recognition Act 2012
The organisation recognises and supports its responsibilities 
and obligations under the Act for people in care relationships 
and the role of carers in our community. Mansfield District 
Hospital is actively developing strategies and working with 
carers to find ways for people in care relationships to have a 
say in care planning and service delivery.
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Building Act 1993
Mansfield District Hospital has met the requirements of the 
Building Act 1993 during the building of the Primary Health 
Centre. An Occupancy Certificate is yet to be provided. 
All buildings are appropriately classified according to the 
regulations.

Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures
The organisation is committed to using local approved 
suppliers wherever possible and maintains an approved 
suppliers list that is audited on an annual basis.

National Competition Policy
The organisation is committed to ensuring ‘best value for 
money’ is obtained for purchase of supplies, equipment 
and works. The organisation does not always accept the 
cheapest price for items or services and uses open and 
transparent selection criteria when determining outcomes. 
Where applicable, Mansfield District Hospital complies with 
relevant aspects of the Competitive Neutrality Policy Victoria.

Environmental Performance
MDH ESCAPE Committee (Environmental Sustainability 
Committee And Practical Engagement) reviews everything 
from waste management to redesign of work areas and 
consumables. The Committee is committed to sustainability. 
The Committee is currently trialling a new process of 
infectious waste disposal and negotiating a more effective, 
comprehensive recycle program.

MDH has changed the theatre air conditioning system to 
an efficient heat/cool recovery unit with 2 energy efficient 
chiller units. With this is a more efficient HEPA filtration and 
associated fans with temperature setbacks for afterhours 
running, this will ensure more energy efficient usage as the 
unit runs continuously.  MDH continues to capture rainwater 
for grounds and gardens use.  MDH generates power from 
our photovoltaic (solar) grid. Whilst this array is not big 

enough to power our buildings, it is helping to reduce our 
carbon footprint.

MDH had a reduction in paper/collating/postage and printing 
costs/usage by almost 20,000 sheets this year.  This equates 
to a saving of approximately 6% of our usage last year. 

MDH is moving towards retrofitting all light fittings with 
LED technology. This includes all lights in the hospital and 
grounds.

Statement of Merit and Equity
The Mansfield District Hospital is an Equal Employment 
Opportunity employer and has adopted the public sector 
merit and equity principles promoted by the Victorian Public 
Sector Commission (formerly State Services Authority 
[SSA]). 

The organisation has developed its own set of beliefs and 
values, utilising the SSA principles:

•	 Quality
  We believe in providing a high quality, effective and 

accessible health service that reflects best practice.

•	 Integrity
  We believe it imperative to be open, honest, transparent 

and ethical in our decision-making and business 
transactions.

•	 Support
  We believe in providing a respectful, safe, fair and 

equitable environment for our staff where scholarship is 
valued and professional development is advanced.

•	 Sustainability
  We believe in sustainable business and environmental 

practice.
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STATEMENT OF PRIORITIES

The Statement of Priorities is the key document of accountability between the Department of Health and the Mansfield 
District Hospital.

The purpose of the Statement of Priorities identifies the Victorian Government’s priorities and policy directions in the Victorian 
Health Priorities Framework 2012-2022. MDH’s Statement of Priorities contributes to the achievement of the Government’s 
seven key priorities in 2014 -2015 through the articulation of the following specific Actions and Deliverables.

Part A - Strategic Priorities for 2014-2015

Priority Action Deliverable Outcome

1.  Developing a system that 
is responsive to people’s 
needs

Develop an organisational 
policy for the provision of 
safe, high quality end of life 
care in acute and subacute 
settings, with clear 
guidance about the role of, 
and access to, specialist 
palliative care.

Implement an organisation-
wide policy for responding 
to clinical and non-clinical 
violence and aggression by 
patients, staff and visitors 
(including code grey) that 
aligns with department 
guidance (2014).

Develop and implement 
an end of life care policy 
including the education of 
staff.

Develop and implement an 
organisation-wide policy for 
responding to clinical and 
non-clinical violence and 
aggression by patients, staff 
and visitors.

Achieved 
Staff have attended end of 
life training.  Continuing to 
work with Region and other 
Health Care Partners to 
progress.

Achieved
Funding for Code 
Grey implementation 
successful.  Training and 
work on progress of the 
implementation of Code 
Grey is complete.

2.  Improving every 
Victorian’s health status 
and experience

Use consumer feedback 
to improve person and 
family centred care, health 
service practice and patient 
experience. 

Implement patient 
experience tracker 
technology and use 
feedback to improve person 
and family centred care. 

Achieved

3.  Expanding service, 
workforce capacity and 
system capacity

Develop and implement 
a workforce immunisation 
plan that includes pre-
employment screening and 
immunisation assessment 
for existing staff that work 
in high risk areas in order 
to align with Australian 
infection control and 
immunisation guidelines.

Build workforce capacity 
and sustainability by 
supporting formal and 
informal clinical education 
and training for staff and 
health students, in particular 
inter-professional learning. 

Develop and implement 
a workforce immunisation 
plan for pre-employment 
screening and immunisation 
assessment for existing 
staff that work in high risk 
areas.

Continue to work with 
identified agencies to 
implement the Hume region 
Clinical Placement Network 
strategies. 

Achieved 

Achieved



13

5.  Implementing continuous 
improvements and 
innovation

Drive improved health 
outcomes through a strong 
focus on patient-centred 
care in the planning, 
delivery and evaluation 
of services, and the 
development of new models 
for putting patients first.

Implement and monitor new 
midwifery model of care. 

Achieved

6.  Increasing accountability 
and transparency

Undertake an annual board 
assessment to identify and 
develop board capability to 
ensure all board members 
are well equipped to 
effectively discharge their 
responsibilities.

Demonstrate a strategic 
focus and commitment to 
aged care by responding 
to community need as well 
as the Commonwealth 
Living Longer Living Better 
reforms. 

Undertake annual board 
assessment and develop 
capability in accordance 
with the Victorian Health 
Services Governance 
Handbook.

Support board participation 
in regional and central 
organised training and 
undertake health service 
specific training program 
with new board members.

Undertake Aged Care 
Feasibility study to use as 
baseline information for 
the future of aged care 
services. 

Achieved 

Achieved 

Achieved

4.  Increasing the system’s 
financial sustainability 
and productivity

Identify and implement 
practice change to enhance 
asset management.

Reduce health service 
administrative costs.

Continue to update asset 
management plan.

Consolidate efficiencies 
made over the previous 
three years and seek new 
opportunities to make 
savings. 

Achieved

Achieved 

7.  Improving utilisation 
of e-health and 
communication 
technology 

Trial, implement and 
evaluate strategies that use 
e-health as an enabler of 
better patient care.

Utilise Telehealth to 
better connect service 
providers and consumers 
to appropriate and timely 
services. 

In partnership with other 
health services, identify 
operational requirements 
for the replacement Patient 
Administration System 
to ensure health service 
readiness.

Continue to participate 
in the Hume Region 
Telehealth project. 

Achieved 

Achieved 
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Part B - Performance priorities

Safety and quality performance

Patient experience and outcomes Target% 2014-2015 actuals
Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey (1) Full compliance Full compliance
Maternity - Percentage of women with prearranged  
postnatal home care 100% 100%
Governance, leadership and culture  
Patient Safety Culture 80 87
Safety and Quality  
Health service accreditation Full compliance Achieved
Residential aged care accreditation Full compliance Achieved
Cleaning standards (Overall) Full compliance Achieved  
Cleaning standards (AQL–A) 90 Achieved
Cleaning standards (AQL–B) 85 Achieved
Cleaning standards (AQL–C) 85 Achieved
Submission of data to VICNISS (2) Full compliance  Achieved
Hand hygiene (rate) 80 83.5
Health care worker immunisation - influenza 75 81.3

(1)  The Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey (VHES) was formerly known as the Victorian Health Experience 
Measurement Instrument (VHEMI).

(2) VICNISS is the Victorian Hospital Acquired Infection Surveillance System.

Financial sustainability performance

Finance Target 2014 -2015 actuals
Annual operating result ($m) (190,000) (235,940)
Creditors 60 days 68
Debtors 60 days 18

Asset Management Target 2014 -2015 actuals
Asset Management Plan Full compliance Full compliance

WIES activity performance Target 2014 -2015 actuals
Percentage of WIES (public and private) performance to target 100 103.6

Part C – Activity and Funding
Funding type   2014 -2015
Acute admitted  Activity Achievement
WIES Public  737.12
WIES Private  307.21
Total PPWIES (Public and Private)  1044.33
WIES Renal  50.53
WIES DVA  50.54
WIES TAC  2.36
WIES TOTAL  1147.76
* Please note: WIES data was prepared prior to final consolidation of the VAED, therefore, data in the above table(s) 
  may differ slightly to the actual figures for 2014 -2015.

Aged Care  2014 -2015
  Activity Achievement
Residential aged care – bed days  22,305

Primary Health  2014 -2015
  Activity Achievement
Small Rural HACC - hours  2932 Hours
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Summary of Financial Results 2014-2015
 
 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Total Revenue 14,933,425 14,312,595 13,629,344 13,006,233 12,882,901
Total Expenses (15,615,088) (14,738,776) 14,613,425 14,244,402 (13,897,297)
Net result for year (inc Capital & Specific Items)
 (681,663) (426,181) (984,081) (1,238,169) (1,014,396)
Retained Surplus/ (Accumulated Deficit) (6,541,436) (5,859,773) 5,433,592 (4,449,511) (3,211,342)
Total Assets
 30,759,482 29,723,667 21,165,420 22,133,249 23,281,474
Total Liabilities
 10,203,337 9,747,314 8,416,457 9,588,414 9,498,470
Net Assets
 20,556,145 19,976,353 12,748,963 12,544,835 13,783,004

Operational and budgetary objectives and performance 
against objectives

The organisation achieved its operational budget income 
targets in two main areas;
1.  Increased funds from the Department of Human Services 

as special “one-off” funding in various amounts. This 
resulted in $100,000 additional income.

2.  Increased numbers of both inpatient and non admitted 
patients.

Expenditure was exceeded when compared to budget in 
main areas;
1.  Wages and salaries were over budget by $273,000 due 

to large amounts of genuine sick leave, which in turn 
resulted in excessive use of casuals replacing the leave.

2. Increased activity resulting in higher VMO costs.

Significant changes in financial position during the year

No significant changes.

Major changes or factors affecting performance

On-going occupancy issues in Aged Care hampered the 
ability to increase revenue.

Workforce Statistics

Every month our organisation is required to submit a report 
to the Department of Health to be used for Statewide 
Workforce Planning purposes. The following mandated 
information is current as at the 30 June 2015.

In addition, hospitals are also required to provide a Workforce 
dataset bi-annually.

NB. The above figures do not include fee-for-service visiting 
medical officers or agency nursing staff.

Application of employment and conduct principles
The Mansfield District Hospital is an equal employment 
opportunity employer and promotes and applies the public 
sector principles, developed by the former Victorian State 
Services Authority (SSA), to its employment practices. MDH 
supports the Victorian Public Sector Commission’s (formerly 
SSA) Code of Conduct for public sector employees and 
expects all employees to abide by this Code. All new 
employees receive a copy of the Code of Conduct on 
commencement of employment.

Workforce Statistics 
 
Every month our organisation is required to submit a report to the Department of Health to be 
used for Statewide Workforce Planning purposes. The following mandated information is 
current as at the 30 June 2015. 
 

 
Labour Category 

JUNE 
Current Month FTE 

JUNE 
YTD FTE 

JUNE  
2014 

Nursing 59.11 59.59 60.29 
Administration and 
Clerical 

12.90 13.00 11.82 

Medical Support 0.66 0.61 0.74 
Hotel and Allied 
Services 

39.35 39.15 36.41 

Medical Officers - - 0.05 
Hospital Medical 
Officers 

0.06 0.04 N/A 

Sessional Clinicians N/A N/A N/A 
Ancillary Staff (Allied 
Health) 

1.00 0.9 3.29 

 
In addition, hospitals are also required to provide a Workforce dataset bi-annually. 
 
NB. The above figures do not include fee-for-service visiting medical officers or agency 
nursing staff. 
 
Application of employment and conduct principles 
The Mansfield District Hospital is an equal employment opportunity employer and promotes 
and applies the public sector principles, developed by the former Victorian State Services 
Authority (SSA), to its employment practices. MDH supports the Victorian Public Sector 
Commission’s (formerly SSA) Code of Conduct for public sector employees and expects all 
employees to abide by this Code. All new employees receive a copy of the Code of Conduct 
on commencement of employment. 
 

Summary of Financial Results 2014-2015 
 

 
 

2015 
 

2014 
 

2013 
 

2012 
 

2011 
 

 
Total Revenue 
 

 
TBA 

 
14,180,255 

 
 13,629,344 

 
   13,006,233 

 
12,882,901 

Total Expenses 
 

TBA (14,606,436) 14,613,425 
 

14,244,402 (13,897,297) 

Net result for year 
(inc Capital & 
Specific Items) 
 

TBA (426,181) (984,081) (1,238,169) (1,014,396) 

Retained Surplus/ 
(Accumulated 
Deficit) 

TBA (5,859,773) 5,433,592 (4,449,511) (3,211,342) 

Total Assets 
 

TBA 29,723,667 21,165,420 22,133,249 23,281,474 

Total Liabilities 
 

TBA 9,747,314 8,416,457 9,588,414 9,498,470 

Net Assets 
 

TBA 19,976,353 12,748,963 12,544,835 13,783,004 
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Consultancies over $10,000

      
Consultant Purpose of  Start Date  End Date  Total  Expenditure  Future
 consultancy   approved  2014-2015  Expenditure 
    project fee  (ex GST)  (ex GST)  
      

In 2014-2015, Mansfield District Hospital engaged 5 consultants where the total fees payable were less than $10,000 with 
a total expenditure of $8,344 (ex GST).

Additional information

The following information, where it relates to the 
Mansfield District Hospital and is relevant to the financial 
year 2014-2015, is available upon request by relevant 
Ministers, members of Parliament and the public:

a) A statement of pecuniary interest has been completed;
b)  Details of shares held by senior officers as nominee or 

held beneficially;
c)  Details of publications produced by the Department 

about the activities of Mansfield District Hospital and 
where they can be obtained;

d)  Details of changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and 
levies charged by Mansfield District Hospital;

e)  Details of any major external reviews carried out on 
Mansfield District Hospital;

f)  Details of major research and development activities 
undertaken by Mansfield District Hospital that are not 
otherwise covered either in the Report of Operations 
or in a document that contains the financial statements 
and Report of Operations;

g)  Details of overseas visits undertaken including a 
summary of the objectives and outcomes of each visit;

h)  Details of major promotional, public relations and 
marketing activities undertaken by Mansfield District 
Hospital to develop community awareness of the 
entity and its services;

i)  Details of assessments and measures undertaken 
to improve the occupational health and safety of 
employees;

j)  General statement on industrial relations within 
Mansfield District Hospital and details of time lost 
through industrial accidents and disputes, which is not 
otherwise detailed in the Report of Operations;

k)  A list of major committees sponsored by Mansfield 
District Hospital, the purpose of each committee and 
the extent to which the purposes have been achieved; 
and

l)  Details of all consultancies and contractors including 
consultants/contractors engaged, services provided, 
and expenditure committed for each engagement.

Michael C 
Rhook 

Aged Care 
strategy 

1 November 
2014 

31 March 
2015 

$12,901 $12,901 Nil

Jo Fisher Ex-
ecutive Pty Ltd 

CEO Recruit-
ment 

December 
2014 

February 2015 $38,800 $38,800 Nil
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Board Of Management as at 30 June 2015

Chair, Board of Management: Mr Rowan Swaney
Chair, Audit & Risk Management: Mr Jaya Naidu (Independent member)
Chair, Quality Assurance: Associate Professor Jane Freemantle
Board Members: Mr Murray Beattie
 Mr Robert Beekman (1st July 2014 – 20th January 2015)
 Mrs Jenny Brown (1st July 2014 - 17 March 2015)
 Mrs Gill Belle
 Mr Tony Cipa
 Mr Len Foster (1st July 2014 - 14 October 2015)
 Ms Ann Lahore
 Mr Jeremy Madin
Medical Staff Group
Representative: Dr Graham Slaney  

Executive Staff
    
Chief Executive Officer: Ms Janene Ridley, RN, BA, MHSM, GAICD
  Resigned 5th March 2015
  Ms Marianne Warren, RN, Grad. Dip. Gerontology,
   Master Social Policy and Planning
  Commenced 23rd March 2015
Director of Clinical Services: Ms Margaretanne Hood, RN, RM, BN, Cert Neuroscience
Director of Finance &
Corporate Services: Mr Andrew Nitschke, B.Bus (Accounting), CPA, MBA
Clinical Services Manager: Ms Anne Jewitt, RN, RM, IBCLC

Auditors Visiting Medical Practitioners
RSD Bendigo for J Doyle,  Dr. G Bourke, MB, BS, DRANZCOG, FACRRM, ACRRM
Auditor General, Dr L Carter, MB, BS, BSC (Hons), FRACRM, FRACGP
 Dr. D Cook, MB BS, FACRRM, FRACGP
 Dr S Flew, MB, BS, DCH, DRANZCOG, FACRRM,
 FRSTM&H, MPH
 Dr D Friday, MB, BS, DRANZCOG, FRAGP
Solicitors Dr J Hall, MB, BS
Mal, Ryan & Glen Dr M Kgakololo, MB, BS
Williams Hunt Dr M Reed, MB, BS, FRACGP
 Dr W Twycross, MB, BS, DA, DRANZCOG, DTPH
 Dr M Sathveegarajah, MD, BSC 
Bankers Dr K Savage, MB, BS
ANZ Dr G Slaney, MB, BS, DRANZCOG, FRACGP, MPH, DA 
Bendigo Bank DRCOG, FACRRM
CBA  Dr P Swart, MB, CHB
NAB Dr A Wettenhall, MB, BS, FRACGP
Westpac  Dr D Le Broque, MB, BS 
 Dr B Nally MB, BS
 Dr E Harrison MB, BS
 Dr B Kabbbe MB, BS 
    
Audit Committee Visiting Consulting Medical Staff
Mr J Naidu (Chair) Dr A Chicowicz MB, BS (Hons), BMed Sci, PG DIP 
Mr M Beattie SurgAnot, FRACS 
Mr R Beekman 30th June 2014 - 20 Jan 2015 Dr P MacLeish, MB, BS, FRACP
Mr T Cipa   Dr S Pearce, MB, BS, FRANZCOG
Mr Geoff Gravenal Mr W Seager, MB, BS, FRACS (Ortho) 
Ms Belinda Langlands 30th June 2014 –  Mr P Thomas, MB, BS, FRCSEd, FRACS
9 June 2015  
   
Internal Auditors
Crowe Horwath

Director of Medical Services
Dr Richard Lowen, MB, BS DRCOG, RACGP, AACHSE

ASSOCIATED BODIES AS AT 30 JUNE 2015
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MANSFIELD DISTRICT HOSPITAL

COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 2015 2014

$ $

Revenue from Operating Activities 2 13,706,954 13,401,251

Revenue from Non-Operating Activities 2 293,469 357,116

Employee Expenses 3 (10,047,957) (9,566,679)

Non Salary Labour Costs 3 (784,362) (828,239)

Supplies and Consumables 3 (1,020,483) (1,017,576)

Other Expenses 3 (2,383,561) (2,156,832)

Net Result Before Capital and Specific Items (235,940) 189,041

Capital Purpose Income 2 933,002 554,228

Depreciation 4 (1,324,758) (1,128,382)

Finance Costs 5 0 (1,109)

Expenditure using Capital Purpose Income 3 (53,967) (39,959)

NET RESULT FOR THE YEAR (681,663) (426,181)

Other Comprehensive Income

Items that will not be reclassified to net result

Changes in physical asset revaluation surplus 17a 0 7,653,571

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT FOR THE YEAR (681,663) 7,227,390

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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MANSFIELD DISTRICT HOSPITAL

BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 30 JUNE 2015

Note 2015 2014
$ $

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 6 2,127,802 1,667,364
Receivables 7 429,352 520,267
Investments and Other Financial Assets 8 5,807,095 5,532,841
Inventories 9 76,554 64,303
Prepayments 10 48,054 40,564
Total Current Assets 8,488,857 7,825,339

Non-Current Assets

Receivables 7 465,423 391,124
Property, Plant and Equipment 11 21,805,202 21,507,204
Total Non-Current Assets 22,270,625 21,898,328

TOTAL ASSETS 30,759,482 29,723,667

Current Liabilities

Payables 12 431,962 772,404
Provisions 14 2,063,625 2,341,844
Other Liabilities 16 7,251,865 6,226,552
Total Current Liabilities 9,747,452 9,340,800

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 14 455,885 406,514
Total Non-Current Liabilities 455,885 406,514

TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,203,337 9,747,314

NET ASSETS 20,556,145 19,976,353

EQUITY

Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus 17a 16,245,056 16,245,056
Contributed Capital 17b 10,852,525 9,591,070
Accumulated Deficits 17c (6,541,436) (5,859,773)

TOTAL EQUITY 17d 20,556,145 19,976,353

Commitments 20
Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities 21

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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MANSFIELD DISTRICT HOSPITAL

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Property, Plant Contributed Accumulated Total

and Equipment Capital Deficits

Revaluation

Surplus

Note $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2013 8,591,485 9,591,070 (5,433,592) 12,748,963

Net result for the year 17c 0 0 (426,181) (426,181)

Other comprehensive income for the year 17a 7,653,571 0 0 7,653,571

Balance at 30 June 2014 16,245,056 9,591,070 (5,859,773) 19,976,353

Net result for the year 17c 0 1,261,455 (681,663) 579,792

Other comprehensive income for the year 17a 0 0 0 0

Balance at 30 June 2015 16,245,056 10,852,525 (6,541,436) 20,556,145

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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MANSFIELD DISTRICT HOSPITAL

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note 2015 2014
$ $

Inflows / Inflows /
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (Outflows) (Outflows)

Operating grants from government 10,981,132 10,480,329
Patient and resident fees received 1,991,299 2,109,451
Donations and bequests received 321,246 280,637
GST received from / (paid to) ATO 31,981 (28,656)
Interest received 305,548 360,136
Other Receipts 459,011 352,427
Total Receipts 14,090,217 13,554,324

Employee expenses paid (10,192,861) (9,285,205)
Fee for service medical officers (784,362) (828,239)
Payments for supplies and consumables (1,032,734) (882,803)
Finance costs 0 (1,109)
Other payments (2,334,320) (2,023,441)
Total Payments (14,344,277) (13,020,797)

Cash Generated from Operations (254,060) 533,527

Capital grants from government 351,618 162,583

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 18 97,558 696,110

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of non-financial assets (1,699,947) (762,564)
Proceeds from sale of non-financial assets 43,636 93,500
Proceeds from sale /(purchase) of investments 13,795 149,728

NET CASH FLOW USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (1,642,516) (519,336)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Contributed capital from government 1,261,455 0
Repayment of borrowings 0 (4,242)

NET CASH FLOW USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES 1,261,455 (4,242)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HELD (283,503) 172,532

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF FINANCIAL YEAR 821,724 649,192

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 6 538,221 821,724

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

NOTE 1 :  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 
These annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial statements for Mansfield District Hospital 
(ABN 65 866 548 895) for the period ending 30 June 2015.  The purpose of the report is to provide users with information 
about the  Health Services' stewardship of resources entrusted to it.

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the Financial 

Management Act  1994, and applicable AASs, which include interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards
Board (AASB).  They are presented in a manner consistent with the requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements .

The financial statements also comply with relevant Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs) issued by the Department of Treasury
and Finance, and relevant Standing Directions (SDs) authorised by the Minister for Finance.

The Health Service is a not-for profit entity and therefore applies the additional AUS paragraphs applicable to 
"not-for-profit" Health Services under the AAS's.

The annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Mansfield District Hospital on
25th August, 2015.

(b) Basis of accounting preparation and measurement

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies
the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other
events is reported.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 
30 June 2015, and the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014.

The going concern basis was used to prepare the financial statements.

These financial statements are presented in Australian Dollars, the functional and presentation currency of the Health
Service.

The financial statements, except for cash flow information, have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
Under the accrual basis, items are recognised as assets, liabilities, equity, income or expenses when they satisfy the 
definitions and recognition criteria for those items, that is they are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate,
regardless of when cash is received or paid.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except for:

•   Non-current physical assets, which subsequent to acquisition, are measured at a revalued amount being their fair
value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent impairment losses.  Revaluations   
are made and are reassessed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amounts do not materially differ from their fair values;

•   Derivative financial instruments, managed investment schemes, certain debt securities, and investment properties
after initial recognition, which are measured at fair value with changes reflected in the comprehensive operating statement
(fair value through profit and loss); and

•   Available-for-sale investments which are measured at fair value with movements reflected in equity until the asset  
is derecognised (i.e. other comprehensive income - items that may be reclassified subsequent to net result).

•   The fair value of assets other than land is generally based on their depreciated replacement value.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on professional judgements 
derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, Mansfield District Hospital determines the policies and procedures for both 
recurring fair value measurements such as property, plant and equipment, investment properties and financial instruments, and for
non-recurring fair value measurements such as non-financial physical assets held for sale, in accordance with the requirements of 
AASB 13 and the relevant FRDs.
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

(b) Basis of accounting preparation and measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value 
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

•   Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
•   Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
    directly or indirectly observable
•   Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
    unobservable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Mansfield District Hospital has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the 
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

In addition, Mansfield District Hospital determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each 
reporting period.

The Valuer-General Victoria (VGV) is Mansfield District Hospital’s independent valuation agency.

Mansfield District Hospital, in conjunction with VGV monitors the changes in the fair value of 
each asset and liability through relevant data sources to determine whether revaluation is required.

Details of valuation policies and processes for Property Plant & Equipment are provided at Note 1(k) and Note 11: Property, Plant &
Equipment.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis, Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision, and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.  Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application of AASs that have significant 
effects on the financial statements and estimates, with a risk of material adjustments in the subsequent reporting period, relate to:

•   the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 1(k);
•   superannuation expense (refer to Note 1(h); and
•   actuarial assumptions for employee benefit provisions based on likely tenure of existing staff, patterns of leave claims, future salary
     movements and future discount rates (refer to Note 1(l)).

(c)  Reporting Entity

      The financial statements includes all the controlled activities of Mansfield District Hospital.  

Its principal address is: 
53 Highett Street
Mansfield Vic 3722

A description of the nature of Mansfield District Hospital's operations and its principal activities is included in the
report of operations, which does not form part of these financial statements.

Objectives and funding

Mansfield District Hospital's overall objective is to provide outstanding local care, as well as improve the quality of life to Victorians.

Mansfield District Hospital is predominately funded by accrual based grant funding for the provision of outputs.

(d) Principles of Consolidation

Intersegment Transactions

Transactions between segments within Mansfield District Hospital have been eliminated to reflect
the extent of Mansfield District Hospital's operations as a group.

Jointly controlled assets or operations

Interest in jointly controlled assets or operations are not consolidated by Mansfield District Hospital, but are
accounted for in accordance with the policy outlined in Note 1(k) Financial Assets.

Details of the joint operations are set out in note 23.
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

(e) Scope and presentation of financial statements

Fund Accounting

The Mansfield District Hospital operates on a fund accounting basis and maintains three funds:
Operating, Specific Purpose and Capital Funds.  Mansfield District Hospital's Capital and
Specific Purpose Funds include unspent capital donations and receipts from fundraising activities conducted solely
in respect of these funds.

Services Supported by Health Services Agreement and Services Supported by Hospital

and Community Initiatives.

Activities classified as Services Supported by Health Services Agreement (HSA) are substantially
funded by the Department of Health and Human Services and include Residential Aged Care Services (RACS)
and are also funded from other sources such as the Commonwealth, patients and residents,
while Services Supported by Hospital and Community Initiatives  (H&CI) are funded by the
Health Service's own activities or local initiatives and/or the Commonwealth.

Residential Aged Care Service

The Residential Aged Care operations are an integral part of the Mansfield District Hospital and shares its resources.  An
apportionment of land and buildings has been made based on floor space.  The results of the two operations have been
segregated based on actual revenue earned and expenditure incurred by each operation in Note 2 & 3 to the financial
statements.

The Residential Aged Care Service is substantially funded from Commonwealth bed-day subsidies.

Comprehensive operating statement

The comprehensive operating statement includes the subtotal entitled 'net result before capital and specific items' to
enhance the understanding of the financial performance of Mansfield District Hospital.  This subtotal reports the result
excluding items such as capital grants, assets received or provided free of charge, depreciation, expenditure using capital
purpose income and items of an unusual nature and amount such as specific income and expenses.  The exclusion of
these items is made to enhance matching of income and expenses so as to facilitate the comparability and consistency
of results between years and Victorian Public Health Services.  The 'net result before capital and specific items' is used by
the management of Mansfield District Hospital, the Department of Health and Human Services and the Victorian
Government to measure the ongoing operating performance of Health Services. 

Capital and specific items, which are excluded from this sub-total comprise:

* Capital purpose income, which comprises all tied grants, donations and bequests received for the 
purpose of acquiring non-current assets, such as capital works, plant and equipment or intangible assets.
It also includes donations of plant and equipment (refer note 1 (g)).  Consequently the recognition of 
revenue as capital purpose income is based on the intention of the provider of the revenue at the
time the revenue is provided;

* Specific income/expense, comprises the following items, where material:
* Voluntary departure packages
* Write-down of inventories
* Non-current asset revaluation increments/decrements
* Diminution/impairment of investments
* Restructuring of operations (disaggregation/aggregation of health services)
* Litigation settlements
* Non-current assets lost or found
* Forgiveness of loans
* Reversals of provisions
* Voluntary changes in accounting policies (which are not required by an accounting standard 

or other authoritative pronouncement of the Australian Accounting Standards Board);

* Impairment of financial and non-financial assets, includes all impairment losses (and reversal of previous
impairment losses), which have been recognised in accordance with note 1 (k);

* Depreciation, as described in note 1 (h); and

* Assets provided or received free of charge, as described in note 1 (g) and (h); and

* Expenditure using capital purpose income, comprises expenditure which either falls below the asset capitalisation
threshold, or doesn't meet asset recognition criteria and therefore does not result in the recognition
of an asset in the balance sheet, where funding for that expenditure is from capital purpose income.
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

(e) Scope and presentation of financial statements (Continued)

Balance sheet

Assets and liabilities are categorised either as current or non-current (non-current being those assets or liabilities expected
to be recovered / settled more than 12 months after reporting period), are disclosed in the notes where relevant.

Statement of changes in equity

The statement of changes in equity presents reconciliations of each non-owner and owner changes in equity from the
opening balance at the beginning of the reporting period to the closing balance at the end of the reporting period.  It also
shows separately changes due to amounts recognised in the comprehensive result and amounts recognised in other
comprehensive income. 

Cash flow statement

Cash flows are classified according to whether or not they arise from operating activities, investing activities, or financing
activities.  This classification is consistent with requirements under AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows .

For the cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes bank overdrafts, which are
included as current borrowings in the balance sheet.

Rounding

All amounts shown in the financial statements are expressed to the nearest $1 unless otherwise stated.

Minor discrepancies in tables between totals and sum of components are due to rounding.

Comparative Information

There have been no changes to comparative information which require additional disclosure.

(f) Change in accounting policies

AASB 10 Consolidated financial statements

AASB 10 provides a new approach to determine whether an entity has control over another entity, and therefore must
present consolidated financial statements. The new approach requires the satisfaction of all three criteria for control to
exist over an entity for financial reporting purposes:

(a)   The investor has power over the investee;
(b)   The investor has exposure, or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investees; and
(c)   The investor has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of investor's returns. 

Based on the new criteria prescribed in AASB 10, Mansfield District Hospital has reviewed the existing arrangements to
determine if there are any additional entities that need to be consolidated into the group. 

Based on the new criteria prescribed in AASB 10, Mansfield District Hospital has reviewed the existing arrangements to determine if there 
are any additional entities that need to be consolidated into the group.  Based on this review, Mansfield District Hospital has determined
there are no entities required to be consolidated in accordance with AASB 10.

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements

In accordance with AASB 11, there are two types of joint arrangements, i.e. joint operations and joint ventures. Joint
operations arise where the investors have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of an arrangement. A joint
operator accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Joint ventures arise where the investors
have rights to the net assets of the arrangement; joint ventures are accounted for under the equity method. Proportionate
consolidation of joint ventures is no longer permitted. 

Mansfield District Hospital has reviewed its existing contractual arrangements with other entities to ensure they are aligned
with the new classifications under AASB 11.

On the basis of that review, Mansfield District Hospital has determined it's joint venture arrangements with the Hume Region Health
Alliance should be accounted for as a Joint Operation.

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities prescribes the disclosure requirements for an entity's interest in subsidiaries, 
associates and joint arrangements; and extends to the entity's association with unconsolidated structured entities.

Mansfield District Hospital has disclosed information about its interest in associates and joint ventures, including any
significant judgement and assumptions used in determining the type of joint arrangement in which it has an interest. 
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

(f) Change in accounting policies (Continued)

AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

The Australian Accounting Standards Board issued an amending accounting standard AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards - Fair Value disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities on 13 July 2015.  In accordance with 
FRD 7A Early adoption of authoritative accounting pronouncements, the Minister for Finance has approved the option for 
Victorian not-for-profit public sector entities to early adopt the amending accounting standard to enable them to benefit from 
some limited exemption in relation to fair value disclosures for the 2014-15 reporting period.  The limited exemption is available 
to those entities whose assets are held primarily for their current service potential rather than to generate net cash inflows.

Mansfield District Hospital meets the criteria specified in AASB 2015-7 to benefit from the reduced disclosure requirements, so 
it has chosen to early adopt the amendments to Fair Value disclosure of Not-for-profit-plubic sector entities.

(g) Income from transactions

Income is recognised in accordance with AASB 118 Revenue and is recognised as to the extent that it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to Mansfield District Hospital and the income can be reliably measured at fair value.  Unearned 
income at reporting date is reported as income received in advance.

Amounts disclosed as revenue are, where applicable, net of returns, allowances and duties and taxes.

 Government Grants and other transfers of income (other than contributions by owners)

In accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions, government grants and other transfers of income (other than contributions
by owners) are recognised as income when the Health Service gains control of the underlying assets irrespective of
whether conditions are imposed on the Health Service's use of the contributions.

Contributions are deferred as income in advance when the Health Service has a present obligation to repay them and 
the present obligation can be reliably measured.

Indirect Contributions from the Department of Health and Human Services

- Insurance is recognised as revenue following advice from the Department of Health and Human Services.
- Long Service Leave (LSL) - Revenue is recognised upon finalisation of movements in LSL liability 

in line with the arrangements set out in the Metropolitan Health and Aged Care Services Division
Hospital Circular 05/2013.

Patient and Resident Fees

Patient fees are recognised as revenue at the time invoices are raised.

Private Practice Fees

Private Practice fees are recognised as revenue at the time invoices are raised.

Revenue from commercial activities

Revenue from commercial activities such as provision of meals to external users is recognised at the time the invoices
are raised.

Donations and Other Bequests

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received.  If donations are for a special 
purpose, they may be appropriated to a surplus, such as specific restricted purpose surplus.

Interest revenue

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes in account the effective yield of the financial asset,
which allocates interest over the relevant period.

Sale of investments

The gain/(loss) on the sale of investments is recognised when the investment is realised.

Fair value of assets and services received free of charge or for nominal consideration

Resources received free of charge or for nominal consideration are recognised at their fair value when the transferee obtains
control over them, irrespective of whether restrictions or conditions are imposed over the use of the contributions, unless
received from another Health Service or agency as a consequence of a restructuring of administrative arrangements.  In the
latter case, such transfer will be recognised at carrying value.  Contributions in the form of services are only recognised
when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would have been purchased if not received as a donation.

Other Income

Other income includes non-property rental, dividends, forgiveness or liabilities and bad debt reversals.
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

(h) Expense recognition

Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which they relate.

Cost of goods sold

Costs of goods sold are recognised when the sale of an item occurs by transferring the cost or value of the item/s from
inventories.

Employee expenses

Employee expenses include:
•   Wages and salaries;
•   Annual leave;
•   Sick leave;
•   Long service leave; and
•   Superannuation expenses which are reported differently depending upon whether employees are members of
defined benefit or defined contribution plans.

Defined contribution superannuation plans

In relation to defined contributions (i.e. accumulation) superannuation plans, the associated expense is simply the employer
contributions that are paid or payable in respect of employees who are members of these plans during the reporting period.
Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed when incurred.

Defined benefit superannuation plans

The amount charged to the Comprehensive Operating Statement in respect of defined benefit superannuation
plans represents the contributions made by the Health Service to the superannuation plans in respect of the 
services of current Health Service staff during the reporting period.  Superannuation contributions are made to the plans
based on the relevant rules of each plan, and are based upon actuarial advice.

Employees of the Mansfield District Hospital are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the
Mansfield District Hospital contributes to both the defined benefit and defined contribution plans.
The defined benefit plans provide benefits based on years of service and final average salary.

The name and details of the major employee superannuation funds and contributions made by Mansfield
District Hospital are disclosed in Note 15: Superannuation.

Depreciation

All buildings, plant and equipment and other non-financial physical assets that have finite useful lives are depreciated
(i.e. excludes land assets held for sale, and investment properties).  Depreciation begins when the asset is
available for use, which is when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in a manner 
intended by management.

Intangible produced assets with finite lives are depreciated as an expense from transactions on a systematic basis over the 
asset's useful life.  Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at a rate that allocates the asset value, less 
any estimated residual value over its estimated useful life. Estimates of the remaining useful lives and depreciation method 
for all assets are reviewed at least annually, and adjustments made where appropriate. This depreciation charge is not 
funded by the Department of Health and Human Services.

Assets with a cost in excess of $1,000 are capitalised and depreciation has been provided on depreciable assets 
so as to allocate their cost or valuation over their estimated useful lives.  

The following table indicates the expected useful lives of non-current assets on which the depreciation charges 
are based.

2015 2014

Buildings
- Structure Shell Building Fabric 10 to 35 years 10 to 35 years
- Site Engineering Services and Central Plant 10 to 25 years 10 to 25 years
Central Plant
- Fit Out 6 to 15 years 6 to 15 years
- Trunk Reticulated Building Systems 10 to 16 years 10 to 16 years
Plant and Equipment 10 to 20 years 10 to 20 years
Medical Equipment 3 to 20 years 3 to 20 years
Computers and Communication 3 to 10 years 3 to 10 years
Furniture and Fittings 5 to 10 years 5 to 10 years
Motor Vehicles 2 to 10 years 2 to 10 years

As part of the buildings valuation, building values were separated into components and each component assessed for its useful
life which is represented above. 
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

(h) Expense recognition

Finance Costs

Finance costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.
 

Finance costs include:
- interest on bank overdrafts and short-term and long-term borrowings  (interest expense is recognised in the period

in which it is incurred);
- amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings;
- amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings; and
- finance charges in respect of finance leases recognised in accordance with AASB 117 Leases .

Grants and other transfers

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in 
which they are paid or payable.  They include transactions such as: grants, subsidies and personal benefit payments made in cash 
to individuals.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations and include:

Supplies and consumables

Supplies and service costs which are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred.  
The carrying amounts of any inventories held for distribution are expenses when distributed.

Bad and doubtful debts

Refer to note 1 (k) Impairment of financial assets.

Fair value of assets, services and resources provided free of charge or for nominal consideration

Contributions of resources provided free of charge or for nominal consideration are recognised at their fair value when the 
transferee obtains control over them, irrespective of whether restrictions or conditions are imposed over the use of the 
contributions, unless received from another agency as a consequence of a restructuring of administrative arrangements.  In 
the latter case, such a transfer will be recognised at it's carrying value.  Contributions in the form of services are only 
recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would have been purchased if not donated.

(i) Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income measure the change in volume or value of assets or liabilities that do not result from transactions.

Net Gain / (Loss) on Non-Financial Assets

Net gain / (loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities includes realised and unrealised gains and losses as follows:

Revaluation gains / (losses) of non-financial physical assets

Refer to Note 1(k) Revaluations of non-financial physical assets.

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of Non-Financial Assets

Any gain or loss on the disposal of non-financial assets is recognised at the date of disposal and is the difference 
between proceeds and the carrying value of the asset at the time.

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (and intangible assets not available for use) are tested 
annually for impairment and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Refer to Note 1 (k) Assets.

(j) Financial Instruments

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability
or equity instrument of another entity.  Due to the nature of the Mansfield District Hospital's activities, certain financial assets
and financial liabilities arise under statute rather than a contract.  Such financial assets and financial liabilities do not meet the
definition of financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation.  For example, statutory receivables
arising from taxes, fines and penalties do not meet the definition of financial instruments as they do not arise under contract.

Where relevant, for note disclosure purposes, a distinction is made between those financial assets and financial liabilities that
meet the definition of f inancial instruments in accordance with AASB 132 and those that do not.

The following refers to financial instruments unless otherwise stated.
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

(j) Financial Instruments (Continued)

Categories of non-derivative financial instruments

Reclassification of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial instrument assets that meet the definition of loans and receivables may be reclassified out of the fair value through profit 
and loss category into the loans and receivables category, where they would have met the definition of loans and receivables had 
they not been required to be classified as fair value through profit and loss. In these cases, the financial instrument assets may be 
reclassified out of the fair value through profit and loss category, if there is the intention and ability to hold them for the foreseeable 
future or until maturity.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial instrument assets with fixed and determinable payments that are not quoted on an
active market.  These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent
to initial measurement, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any impairment.

Loans and receivables category includes cash and deposits (refer to Note 1(k)), term deposits with maturity greater than
three months, trade receivables, loans and other receivables, but not statutory receivables.
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial instrument assets are those designated as available-for-sale or not classified in any other category
of financial instrument asset.  Such assets are initially recognised at fair value.  Subsequent to initial recognition gains and losses arising
 from changes in fair value are recognised in 'other comprehensive income' until the investment is disposed of or is determined to be
 impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is included in net result for the period.  Fair value is
 determined in the manner described in Note 19.

Reclassification of available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for sale financial instrument assets that meet the definition of loans and receivables may be classified into the loans and 
receivables category if there is the intention and ability to hold them for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

Financial Liabilities at amortised cost

Financial instrument liabilities are initially recognised on the date they are originated.  They are initially measured at fair value plus any
directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial instruments are measured at amortised cost with
any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the period of
the interest-bearing liability, using the effective interest rate method.

Financial instrument liabilities measured at amortised cost include all of the Health Service's contractual payables, deposits held and
advances received, and interest-bearing arrangements other than those designated at fair value through profit or loss.

(k) Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents recognised on the balance sheet comprise cash on hand and cash at bank, deposits at call and highly 
liquid investments (with an original maturity of three months or less), which are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash 
commitments rather than for investment purposes, which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts, which are included as liabilities 
on the balance sheet.

Receivables

Receivables consist of:
 - Contractual receivables, which includes of mainly debtors in relation to goods and services, loans to third parties;
   accrued investment income, and finance lease receivables; and
 - Statutory receivables, which includes predominantly amounts owing from the Victorian Government and Goods and Services Tax (GST)
   input tax credits recoverable.

Receivables that are contractual are classified as financial instruments and categorised as loans and receivables.  Statutory
receivables are recognised and measured similarly to contractual receivables (except for impairment), but are not classified as 
financial instruments because they do not arise from a contract.

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate 
method, less any accumulated impairment.

Trade debtors are carried at nominal amounts due and are due for settlement within 30 days from the date of recognition.  
Collectability of debts is reviewed on an ongoing basis, and debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off.  A provision  
for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred.
Bad debts are written off when identified.
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

(k) Assets (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract 
whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially  
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.

Investments are classified in the following categories:
 - Held-to-maturity;
 - Loans and receivables; and
 - Available-for-sale financial assets.

The Mansfield District Hospital classifies its other financial assets between current and non-current assets based on the purpose 
for which the assets were acquired.  Management determines the classification of its other financial assets at initial recognition.

Mansfield District Hospital assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

All financial assets, except those measured at fair value through profit and loss are subject to annual review for impairment.

Inventories

Inventories include goods and other property held either for sale, consumption or for distribution at no or nominal
cost in the ordinary course of business operations.  It excludes depreciable assets.

Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost, adjusted for any loss of service potential.  All
other inventories, including land held for sale, are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Inventories acquired for no cost or nominal considerations are measured at current replacement cost at
the date of acquisition.

The bases used in assessing loss of service potential for inventories held for distribution include current replacement
cost and technical or functional obsolescence.  Technical obsolescence occurs when an item still functions for
some or all of the tasks it was originally acquired to do, but no longer matches existing technologies.  Functional
obsolescence occurs when an item no longer functions the way it did when it was first acquired.

Cost is assigned to land for sale (undeveloped, under development and developed) and to other high value, low volume 
inventory items on a specific identification of cost basis.

Cost for all other inventory is measured on the basis of weighted average cost.

Non-financial physical assets classified as held for sale

Non-financial physical assets and disposal groups and related liabilities are treated as current and are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This
condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset's sale (or disposal group) is expected
to be completed within 12 months from the date of classification, and the asset is available for immediate use in the
current condition.

Non-financial physical assets (including disposal groups) classified as held for sale are treated as current and are
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs of disposal, and are not subject to depreciation 
or amortisation.

Property, plant and equipment

All non-current physical assets are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment.  Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at the date 
of acquisition.  Assets transferred as part of a merger / machinery of government are transferred at their carrying amount.

More details about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of non-financial physical assets are 
discussed in Note 11 Property, plant and equipment .

Crown land is measured at fair value with regard to the property's highest and best use after due consideration is made 
for any legal or physical restrictions imposed on the asset, public announcements or commitments made in relation  
to the intended use of the asset.  Theoretical opportunities that may be available in relation to the asset(s) are not taken 
into account until it is virtually certain that any restriction will no longer apply. Therefore, unless otherwise disclosed, the 
current use of these non-financial  physical assets will be their highest and best uses.
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30 June 2015

(k) Assets (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Land and buildings  are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated
depreciation and impairment.

Plant, equipment and vehicles  are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Depreciated historical cost is generally a reasonable proxy for depreciated  
replacement cost because of the short lives of the assets concerned.

Revaluations of non-current physical assets

Non-current physical assets are measured at fair value and are revalued in accordance with FRD 103F Non-current
physical assets.  This revaluation process normally occurs at least every five years, based upon the asset's Government
Purpose Classification  but may occur more frequently if fair value assessments indicate material changes in values. 
Independent valuers are used to conduct these scheduled revaluations and any interim revaluations are determined 
in accordance with the requirements of the FRDs. Revaluation increments or decrements arise from differences 
between an asset's carrying value and fair value.

Revaluation increments are recognised in 'other comprehensive income' and are credited directly to the asset
revaluation surplus except that, to the extent that an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that 
same class of asset previously recognised as an expense in the net result, the increment is recognised as income in the net result.

Revaluation decrements are recognised in 'other comprehensive income' to the extent that a credit balance exists
in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of property, plant and equipment.

Revaluation increases and revaluation decreases relating to individual assets within an asset class are offset 
against one another within that class but are not offset in respect of assets in different classes.

Revaluation surplus is not transferred to accumulated funds on derecognition of the relevant asset.

In accordance with FRD 103F Mansfield District Hospital's non-current physical assets were assessed to determine whether
revaluation of the non-current physical assets was required.

Prepayments

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services
or that part of expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

Disposal of non-financial assets

Any gain or loss on the sale of non-financial assets is recognised in the comprehensive operating statement.  Refer to  
note 1(i) - 'other comprehensive income'.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives (and intangible assets not yet available for use) are tested annually for
impairment (as described below) and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

All other non-financial assets are assessed annually for indications of impairment, except for:
• inventories;
• non-current physical assets held for sale; and
• assets arising from construction contracts.

If there is an indication of impairment, the assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying
value exceeds their possible recoverable amount.  Where an asset's carrying value exceeds its recoverable
amount, the difference is written-off as an expense except to the extent that the write-down can be debited to an
an asset revaluation reserve amount applicable to that same class of asset.

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in the estimate of an asset's recoverable amount since the last
impairment loss was recognised, the carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount.  This reversal of
the impairment loss occurs only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in
prior years.

It is deemed that, in the event of the loss or destruction of an asset, the future economic benefits arising from the use of
the asset will be replaced unless a specific decision to the contrary has been made.  The recoverable amount
for most assets is measured at the higher of depreciated replacement cost and fair value less costs to sell.
Recoverable amount for assets held primarily to generate net cash inflows is measured at the higher of the
present value of future cash flows expected to be obtained from the asset and fair value less costs to sell.
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(k) Assets (Continued)

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Joint ventures are joint arrangements
whereby Mansfield District Hospital, via its joint control of the arrangement, has rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

Interest in joint ventures are accounted for in the financial statements using the equity method, as applied to investments
in associates and are disclosed as required by AASB 12. 

Investments in joint operations

In respect of any interest in joint operations, Mansfield District Hospital recognises in the financial statements:

•    its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;
•    any liabilities including its share of liabilities that it had incurred;
•    its revenue from the sale of its share of the output from the joint operation;
•    its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the operation; and
•    its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:
 - the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
 - the Health Service retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full
   without material delay to a third party under a 'pass through' arrangement; or
 - the Health Service has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either:
(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
(b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
      the asset.

Where the Health Service has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred control,
the asset is recognised to the extent of the Health Service's continuing involvement in the asset.

Impairment of Financial Assets

At the end of each reporting period Mansfield District Hospital assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  All financial instrument assets, except those measured at fair value through
profit and loss, are subject to annual review for impairment.

Receivables are assessed for bad and doubtful debts on a regular basis.  Bad debts considered as written off and allowances
for doubtful receivables are expensed.  Bad debt written off by mutual consent and the allowance for doubtful debts
are classified as "other comprehensive income" in the net result.

The amount of the allowance is the difference between the financial asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate.

Where the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument at balance date has reduced by 20 percent or more than its
cost price or where its fair value has been less than its cost price for a period of 12 or more months.  The financial asset
is treated as impaired.

In order to determine an appropriate fair value as at 30 June 2015 for its portfolio of financial assets,
Mansfield District Hospital obtained a valuation based on the best available advice using an estimated market value
through a reputable financial institution.  This value was compared against valuation methodologies provided by the issuer
as at 30 June 2015.  These methodologies were critiqued and considered to be consistent with standard market
valuation techniques.

In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) financial assets, which are not financial instruments, professional
judgement is applied in assessing materiality using estimates, averages and other computational methods in accordance
with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.

Net Gain/(Loss) on Financial Instruments

Net Gain/(Loss) on financial instruments includes: 
 - realised and unrealised gains and losses from revaluations of financial instruments that are designated at fair value
through profit or loss or held-for-trading;
 - impairment and reversal of impairment for financial instruments at amortised cost; and
 - disposals of financial assets and derecognition of financial liabilities.

Revaluations of Financial Instruments at Fair Value

The revaluation gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value excludes dividends or interest earned on financial assets.
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(l) Liabilities

Payables

Payables consist of:
• contractual payables which consist predominantly of accounts payable representing liabilities for goods and services

provided to the Health Service prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid, and arise when the Health Service
becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of those goods and services.  The normal
credit terms for accounts payable are usually Nett 30 days.

• statutory payables, such as goods and services tax and fringe benefits tax payables.

Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments and are initially recognised at fair value, and then subsequently carried 
at amortised cost.  Statutory payables are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified as 
financial instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise from a contract.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Health Service has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is 
probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at 
reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured 
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows, 
using a discount rate that reflects the time value of money and risks specific to the provision.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be received from a third party, the 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable can 
be measured reliably.

Employee Benefits

This provision arises for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave for
services rendered to the reporting date.

Wages and Salaries, Annual Leave and  Accrued Days Off

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave are all recognised in the provision for
employee benefits as ‘current liabilities’, because the health service does not have an unconditional right to defer settlements 
of these liabilities.

Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave are measured at:
•  Undiscounted value – if the health service expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or
• Present value – if the health service does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Long Service Leave (LSL)

Liability for LSL is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability, even where the health service does 
not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement 
of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months.

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:
• Undiscounted value – if the health service expects to wholly settle within 12 months; and
• Present value – if the health service does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement 
until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. This non-current LSL liability is measured at present value.

Any gain or loss followed revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a transaction, 
except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest rates for which it is then recognised as 
an other economic flow.

Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or when an employee decides
 to accept an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment.

The health service recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of 
current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a 
result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period are discounted to present value.

On-Costs

Provisions for on-costs, such as workers compensation and superannuation are recognised separately from the provision 
for employee benefits.
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(l) Liabilities (Continued)

Superannuation Liabilities

The Mansfield District Hospital does not recognise any unfunded defined benefit liability in respect of the superannuation 
plans because the Health Service has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; 
its only obligation is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due. 

(m) Leases 

A lease is a right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in exchange for payment.  Leases are classified at their
inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of the agreement so as to reflect   
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 

Leases of property, plant and equipment are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.  

For service concession arrangements, the commencement of the lease term is deemed to be the date the 
asset is commissioned.

All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Finance leases

Entity as lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities at amounts equal to the fair value of the lease property or, if lower, 
the present value of the minimum lease payment, each determined at the inception of the lease. The lease asset is accounted 
for as a non-financial physical asset and is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of 
the lease. If there is certainty that the health service will obtain the ownership of the lease asset by the end of the lease term, 
the asset shall be depreciated over the useful life of the asset. If there is no reasonable certainty that the lessee will obtain 
ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset shall be fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life. 
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between reduction of the outstanding lease liability, and the periodic finance expense 
which is calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease, and charged directly to the comprehensive operating statement. 
Contingent rentals associated with finance leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

Operating Leases

Entity as lessor

Rental income from operating lease is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

All incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed operating lease are recognised as an integral part of the net 
consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset, irrespective of the incentive's nature or form or the timing of payments.

In the event that lease incentives are given to the lessee, the aggregate cost of incentives are recognised as a reduction of 
rental income over the lease term, on a straight-line basis unless another systematic basis is more appropriate of the time 
pattern over which the economic benefit of the leased asset is diminished.

Entity as lessee

Operating lease payments, including any contingent rentals, are recognised as an expense in the comprehensive operating 
statement on a straight line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time 
pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased asset.  The leased asset is not recognised in the balance sheet.

Lease Incentives

All incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed operating lease are recognised as an integral part of the net consideration  
agreed for the use of the leased asset, irrespective of the incentive's nature or form or timing of payments.

In the event that lease incentives are received by the lessee to enter into operating  leases, such incentives are recognised as  
a liability. The aggregate benefits of incentives are recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset is diminished.

Leasehold Improvements

The cost of leasehold improvements are capitalised as an asset and depreciated over the remaining term of the lease or the 
estimated useful life of the improvements, whichever is the shorter.
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(n) Equity

Contributed Capital

Consistent with Australian Accounting Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned  Public Sector Entities
and FRD 119A Contributions by Owners , appropriations for additions to the net asset  base have been designated as contributed
capital. Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions or distributions, that have been designated as contributed capital are
also treated as contributed capital.

Transfers of net assets arising from administrative restructurings are treated as contributions by owners.  Transfers of 
net liabilities arising from administrative restructures are to go through the comprehensive operating statement.

Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current physical assets.

(o) Commitments

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from contracts.  These commitments are
disclosed by way of a note (refer to note 20) at their nominal value and are inclusive of the goods and services tax ("GST")
payable.  In addition, where it is considered appropriate and provides additional relevant information to users, the net present
values of significant individual projects are stated.  These future expenditures cease to be disclosed as commitments once the
related liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet.

(p) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but are disclosed by way of 
note and, i f quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are presented
inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.

(q) Goods and Services Tax ("GST")

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST  
incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority.  In this case it is recognised 
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other 
receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating
cash flow.

Commitments for expenditure and contingent assets and liabilities are presented on a gross basis.
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(r) AASs issued that are not yet effective

Certain new Australian accounting standards have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2015 reporting period.  
DTF assesses the impact of all these new standards and advises the Health Service of their applicability and early adoption   
where applicable.  

 As at 30 June 2015, the following standards and interpretations had been issued by the AASB but were not yet effective.
They become effective for the first financial statements for reporting periods commencing after the stated operative dates
as detailed in the table below.  Mansfield District Hospital has not and does not intend to adopt these standards early.

Standard / Summary Applicable for Impact on Health

Interpretation reporting periods Service's Annual

beginning on Statements

AASB 9 Financial Instruments The key changes include the simplified 1 January 2018 The assessment has identified that the 
requirements for the classification and financial impact of available for sale 
measurement of financial assets, a (AFS) assets will now be reported 
new hedging accounting model and a through other comprehensive income
revised impairment loss model to (OCI) and no longer recycled to the 
recognise impairment losses earlier, profit and loss.
as opposed to the current approach While the preliminary assessment has 
that recognises impairment only when not identified any material impact arising 
incurred. from AASB 9, it will continue to be 

monitored and assessed. 
AASB 15 Revenue from The core principle of AASB 15 requires 1 Jan 2017 The changes in revenue recognition 
Contracts with Customers an entity to recognise revenue when requirements in AASB 15 may result in

the entity satisfies a performance (Exposure Draft changes to the timing and amount of 
obligation by transferring a promised 263 - potential revenue recorded in the financial 
good or service to a customer. deferral to 1 Jan statements. The Standard will also 

2018) require additional disclosures on 
service revenue and contract 
modifications.
A potential impact will be the upfront 
recognition of revenue from licenses that 
cover multiple reporting periods. 
Revenue that was deferred and 
amortised over a period may now need 
to be recognised immediately as a 
transitional adjustment against the 
opening returned earnings if there are no 
former performance obligations 
outstanding.

AASB 2014‑1 Amendments to Amends various AASs to reflect the 1 January 2018 This amending standard will defer the 
Australian Accounting Standards AASB's decision to defer the mandatory application period of AASB 9 to the 
[Part E Financial Instruments] application date of AASB 9 to annual 2018-19 reporting period in accordance 

reporting periods beginning on or after with the transition requirements.
1 January 2018 as a consequence of 
Chapter 6 Hedge Accounting, and to 
amend reduced disclosure 
requirements.

AASB 2014‑4 Amendments to Amends AASB 116 Property, Plant and 1 January 2016 The assessment has indicated that 
Australian Accounting Equipment and AASB 138 Intangible there is no expected impact as the 
Standards – Clarification of Assets to: revenue-based method is not used for 
Acceptable Methods of  - establish the principle for the basis depreciation and amortisation. 
Depreciation and Amortisation of depreciation and amortisation as 
[AASB 116 & AASB 138] being the expected pattern of 

consumption of the future 
economic benefits of an asset;

 - prohibit the use of revenue‑based 
methods to calculate the 
depreciation or amortisation of an 
asset, tangible or intangible, 
because revenue generally reflects 
the pattern of economic benefits 
that are generated from operating 
the business, rather than the 
consumption through the use of the 
asset. 
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(r) AASs issued that are not yet effective (Continued)

Standard / Summary Applicable for Impact on Health

Interpretation reporting periods Service's Annual

beginning on Statements

AASB 2014‑9 Amendments to Amends AASB 127 Separate Financial 1 January 2016 The assessment indicates that there is 
Australian Accounting Statements to allow entities to use the no expected impact as the entity will 
Standards – Equity Method in equity method of accounting for continue to account for the  investments 
Separate Financial Statements investments in subsidiaries, joint in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
[AASB 1, 127 & 128] ventures and associates in their associates using the cost method as 

separate financial statements. mandated if separate financial 
statements are presented in accordance 
with FRD 113A.

AASB 2014‑10 Amendments to AASB 2014-10 amends AASB 10 1 January 2016 The assessment has indicated that 
Australian Accounting Consolidated Financial Statements there is limited impact, as the revisions 
Standards – Sale or Contribution and AASB 128 Investments in to AASB 10 and AASB 128 are guidance 
of Assets between an Investor Associates to ensure consistent in nature.
and its Associate or Joint Venture treatment in dealing with the sale or 
[AASB 10 & AASB 128] contribution of assets between an 

investor and its associate or joint 
venture. The amendments require that:

 - a full gain or loss to be recognised 
by the investor when a transaction 
involves a business (whether it is 
housed in a subsidiary or not); and

 - a partial gain or loss to be 
recognised by the parent when a 
transaction involves assets that do 
not constitute a business, even if 
these assets are housed in a 
subsidiary.

AASB 2015‑6 Amendments to The Amendments extend the scope of 1 July 2016 The amending standard will result in 
Australian Accounting AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures to extended disclosures on the entity's key 
Standards – Extending Related not-for-profit public sector entities.  A management personnel (KMP), and the 
Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit guidance has been included to assist related party transactions. 
Public Sector Entities the application of the Standard by 
[AASB 10, AASB 124 & not-for-profit public sector entities. 
AASB 1049]

In addition to the new standards and amendments above, the AASB has issued a list of other amending standards that are not effective for the 
2014-15 reporting period (as listed below). In general, these amending standards include editorial and references changes that are expected 
to have insignificant impacts on public sector reporting.

 -  AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010).
 -  AASB 2014‑3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations [AASB 1 & AASB 11]
 -  AASB 2014‑5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15
 -  AASB 2014‑6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Agriculture: Bearer Plants [AASB 101, AASB 116, AASB 117, AASB 123, 

 AASB 136, AASB 140 & AASB 141]
 -  AASB 2014‑7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)
 -  AASB 2014‑8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) – Application of AASB 9 

 (December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 2010)]
 -  AASB 2015‑2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, AASB 101, 

 AASB 134 & AASB 1049]
 -  AASB 2015‑3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

(s) Category Groups

The Mansfield District Hospital has used the following category groups for reporting purposes for the current and 
previous financial years.

Admitted Patient Services (Admitted Patients) comprises all acute and subacute admitted patient services, where services are
delivered in public hospitals. 

Aged Care comprises a range of in home, specialist geriatric, residential care and community based programs and support services,
such as Home and Community Care (HACC) that are targeted to older people, people with a disability, and their carers. 

Primary, Community and Dental Health comprises a range of home based, community based, community, primary health and
dental services including health promotion and counselling, physiotherapy, speech therapy, podiatry and occupational therapy and a 
range of dental health services. 

Residential Aged Care including Mental Health (RAC incl. Mental Health) referred to in the past as psychogeriatric residential
services, comprises those Commonwealth-licensed residential aged care services in receipt of supplementary funding from the
department under the mental health program. It excludes all other residential services funded under the mental health program, such
as mental health funded community care units (CCUs) and secure extended care units (SECs). 

Other Services excluded from Australian Health Care Agreement (AHCA) (Other) comprises services not separately classified
above, including: Public Health Services including laboratory testing, blood borne viruses / sexually transmitted infections clinical services
Kooris liaison officers, immunisation and screening services, drugs services including drug withdrawal, counselling and the needle and 
syringe program, Disability services including aids and equipment and flexible support packages to people with a disability, Community
Care programs including sexual assault support, early parenting services, parenting assessment and skills development, and various
support services. Health and Community Initiatives also falls in this category group. 
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

Note 2: ANALYSIS OF REVENUE BY SOURCE

Admitted EDS Residential Aged Primary Other TOTAL

Patients Aged Care Care Health

2015 2015 2015 2015 2015 2015 2015

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Government Grants 5,879,581 216,394 4,330,275 349,530 120,299 0 10,896,079

Indirect Contributions by Department of Health   

and Human Services 45,935 0 41,557 4,617 0 0 92,109

Patient and Resident Fees 515,252 0 1,373,640 111,978 7,485 0 2,008,355

Catering 0 0 0 0 0 85,081 85,081

Property Income 0 0 0 0 0 8,133 8,133

Commercial Activities and Specific Purpose Funds 0 0 0 0 0 119,015 119,015

Hume Rural Health Alliance 0 0 0 0 0 372,378 372,378

Other Revenue from Operating Activities 61,426 532 29,963 8,580 3,745 21,558 125,804

Total Revenue from Operating Activities 6,502,194 216,926 5,775,435 474,705 131,529 606,165 13,706,954

Interest and Dividends 8,665 357 282,559 1,070 357 0 293,008

Hume Rural Health Alliance - Non Operating Revenue 0 0 0 0 0 461 461

Total Revenue from Non-Operating Activities 8,665 357 282,559 1,070 357 461 293,469

Capital Purpose Income 0 0 0 0 0 924,461 924,461

Hume Rural Health Alliance - Capital Purpose Income 0 0 0 0 0 8,541 8,541

Total Capital Purpose Income 0 0 0 0 0 933,002 933,002

TOTAL REVENUE 6,510,859 217,283 6,057,994 475,775 131,886 1,539,628 14,933,425
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

Note 2: ANALYSIS OF REVENUE BY SOURCE (Continued)

Admitted EDS Residential Aged Primary Other TOTAL

Patients Aged Care Care Health

2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Government Grants 5,829,726 216,396 4,231,641 342,806 110,620 0 10,731,189

Indirect Contributions by Department of Health   

and Human Services 51,903 0 46,711 5,190 0 0 103,804

Patient and Resident Fees 414,303 0 1,406,672 122,620 9,343 0 1,952,938

Donations and Bequests (non capital) 25 0 0 0 0 0 25

Catering 0 0 0 0 0 53,597 53,597

Property Income 0 0 0 0 0 6,650 6,650

Commercial Activities and Specific Purpose Funds 0 0 0 0 0 97,790 97,790

Hume Rural Health Alliance 0 0 0 0 0 261,645 261,645

Other Revenue from Operating Activities 98,910 241 31,186 5,244 5,283 52,749 193,613

Total Revenue from Operating Activities 6,394,867 216,637 5,716,210 475,860 125,246 472,431 13,401,251

Interest and Dividends 19,092 360 335,288 1,081 360 0 356,181

Other 0 0 0 0 0 26 26

Hume Rural Health Alliance - non operating revenue 0 0 0 0 0 909 909

Total Revenue from Non-Operating Activities 19,092 360 335,288 1,081 360 935 357,116

Capital Purpose Income 162,583 0 85,527 0 0 295,493 543,603

Hume Rural Health Alliance Capital Purpose Income 0 0 0 0 0 10,625 10,625

Total Capital Purpose Income 162,583 0 85,527 0 0 306,118 554,228

TOTAL REVENUE 6,576,542 216,997 6,137,025 476,941 125,606 779,484 14,312,595

Indirect contributions by Department of Health (1 July 2014 - 31 December 2014)/Department of Health and Human Services

(1 Jan 2015 - 30 June 2015)

Department of Health/Department of Health and Human Services makes certain payments on behalf of the Health Service.

These amounts have been brought to account in determining the operating result for the year by recording them as revenue 

and expenses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

Note 2: ANALYSIS OF REVENUE BY SOURCE (Continued)

Admitted EDS Residential Aged Primary Other TOTAL

Patients Aged Care Care Health

2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Government Grants 5,829,726 216,396 4,231,641 342,806 110,620 0 10,731,189

Indirect Contributions by Department of Health   

and Human Services 51,903 0 46,711 5,190 0 0 103,804

Patient and Resident Fees 414,303 0 1,406,672 122,620 9,343 0 1,952,938

Donations and Bequests (non capital) 25 0 0 0 0 0 25

Catering 0 0 0 0 0 53,597 53,597

Property Income 0 0 0 0 0 6,650 6,650

Commercial Activities and Specific Purpose Funds 0 0 0 0 0 97,790 97,790

Hume Rural Health Alliance 0 0 0 0 0 261,645 261,645

Other Revenue from Operating Activities 98,910 241 31,186 5,244 5,283 52,749 193,613

Total Revenue from Operating Activities 6,394,867 216,637 5,716,210 475,860 125,246 472,431 13,401,251

Interest and Dividends 19,092 360 335,288 1,081 360 0 356,181

Other 0 0 0 0 0 26 26

Hume Rural Health Alliance - non operating revenue 0 0 0 0 0 909 909

Total Revenue from Non-Operating Activities 19,092 360 335,288 1,081 360 935 357,116

Capital Purpose Income 162,583 0 85,527 0 0 295,493 543,603

Hume Rural Health Alliance Capital Purpose Income 0 0 0 0 0 10,625 10,625

Total Capital Purpose Income 162,583 0 85,527 0 0 306,118 554,228

TOTAL REVENUE 6,576,542 216,997 6,137,025 476,941 125,606 779,484 14,312,595

Indirect contributions by Department of Health (1 July 2014 - 31 December 2014)/Department of Health and Human Services

(1 Jan 2015 - 30 June 2015)

Department of Health/Department of Health and Human Services makes certain payments on behalf of the Health Service.

These amounts have been brought to account in determining the operating result for the year by recording them as revenue 

and expenses.
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

NOTE 2a: NET GAIN/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 2015 2014
$ $

Proceeds from Disposal of Non Financial Assets

 - Medical Equipment 4,545 0
 - Motor Vehicles 39,091 93,500

Total Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Financial Assets 43,636 93,500

Less: Written Down Value of Non-Financial Assets Sold

 - Medical Equipment 0 0
 - Motor Vehicles (35,722) (95,609)

Total Written Down Value of Non-Financial Assets Sold (35,722) (95,609)

NET GAIN/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 7,914 (2,109)
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

Note 3: ANALYSIS OF EXPENSE BY SOURCE

Admitted EDS Residential Aged Primary Other TOTAL

Patients Aged Care Care Health

2015 2015 2015 2015 2015 2015 2015

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Employee Expenses 3,850,949 80,342 5,385,705 469,158 160,227 101,576 10,047,957

Non Salary Labour Costs 692,391 86,375 5,109 365 122 0 784,362

Supplies and Consumables 430,380 28,531 389,758 16,455 35,580 119,779 1,020,483

Other Expenses 1,380,566 1,252 597,246 23,428 22,946 358,123 2,383,561

Total Expenditure from Operating Activities 6,354,286 196,500 6,377,818 509,406 218,875 579,478 14,236,363

Expenditure Using Capital Purpose Income 0 0 0 0 0 53,967 53,967

Depreciation (refer note 4) 0 0 0 0 0 1,324,758 1,324,758

Total Other Expenses 0 0 0 0 0 1,378,725 1,378,725

TOTAL EXPENSES 6,354,286 196,500 6,377,818 509,406 218,875 1,958,203 15,615,088

Admitted EDS Residential Aged Primary Other TOTAL

Patients Aged Care Care Health

2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Employee Expenses 3,641,505 88,769 5,138,468 427,352 173,048 97,537 9,566,679

Non Salary Labour Costs 736,509 84,624 5,251 375 1,480 0 828,239

Supplies and Consumables 424,973 26,625 384,493 14,762 39,855 126,868 1,017,576

Other Expenses 1,112,520 18,508 776,920 50,781 18,570 179,533 2,156,832

Total Expenditure from Operating Activities 5,915,507 218,526 6,305,132 493,270 232,953 403,938 13,569,326

Expenditure Using Capital Purpose Income 0 0 0 0 0 39,959 39,959

Depreciation (refer note 4) 0 0 0 0 0 1,128,382 1,128,382

Finance Costs (refer note 5) 0 0 0 0 0 1,109 1,109

Total Other Expenses 0 0 0 0 0 1,169,450 1,169,450

TOTAL EXPENSES 5,915,507 218,526 6,305,132 493,270 232,953 1,573,388 14,738,776
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

NOTE 3a: ANALYSIS OF EXPENSE AND REVENUE BY INTERNALLY MANAGED 2015 2014 2015 2014
  AND RESTRICTED SPECIFIC PURPOSE FUNDS $ $ $ $

Commercial Activities

Diagnostic Imaging 112,216 94,497 125,974 97,790
Catering Services 46,541 48,601 85,081 53,597
Fundraising & Other 50,766 150,171 22,732 188,704

TOTAL 209,523 293,269 233,787 340,091

NOTE 4: DEPRECIATION 2015 2014
$ $

Depreciation

Buildings 971,144 776,511
Land Improvements 20,712 722
Plant and Equipment
 - Plant 77,912 61,981
 - Motor Vehicles 54,861 69,476
Computers and Communication 1,268 0
Medical Equipment 116,225 123,659
Furniture and Fittings 25,084 27,133
Other Equipment 55,470 68,661
Hume Rural Health Alliance 2,082 239

TOTAL DEPRECIATION 1,324,758 1,128,382

NOTE 5: FINANCE COSTS 2015 2014
$ $

Finance Charges on Finance Leases 0 1,109

TOTAL FINANCE COSTS 0 1,109

Expense Revenue
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

NOTE 6: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash assets includes cash on hand and 
in banks, and short-term deposits which are readily convertible to cash on hand, and are 2015 2014
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. $ $

Cash on Hand 700 750
Cash at Bank 2,127,102 1,666,614

TOTAL 2,127,802 1,667,364

Represented by:

Cash for Health Service Operations (as per cash flow statement) 538,221 821,724
Share of Cash Held at Hume Rural Health Alliance 17,541 10,864
Cash for Monies Held in Trust
 - Cash at Bank 1,572,040 834,776

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,127,802 1,667,364

NOTE 7: RECEIVABLES 2015 2014
$ $

CURRENT

Contractual

Trade Debtors 87,730 45,028
Patient Fees 114,672 110,347
Accrued Investment Income 53,840 66,380
Accrued Revenue - Other 50,828 53,344
Hume Rural Health Alliance - Other Receivables 83,671 79,354

390,741 354,453
Statutory

GST Receivable 20,223 52,204
Accrued Revenue - Department of Health and Human Services 0 113,610
Accrued Revenue - Commonwealth Government 18,388 0
Less Allowance for Doubtful Debts 0 0

38,611 165,814

TOTAL CURRENT RECEIVABLES 429,352 520,267

NON CURRENT

Statutory

Long Service Leave - Department of Health and Human Services 465,423 391,124

TOTAL NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES 465,423 391,124

TOTAL RECEIVABLES 894,775 911,391

(a) Movement in the Allowance for doubtful debts

Balance at beginning of year 0 8,801
Increase/(Decrease) in allowance recognised in net result 0 (8,801)
Balance at end of year 0 0

(b) Ageing analysis of receivables

Please refer to note 19(b) for the ageing analysis of contractual receivables.    

(c) Nature and extent of risk arising from receivables

Please refer to note 19(b) for the nature and extent of credit risk arising from contractual receivables.    
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

NOTE 8: INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2015 2014 2015 2014
CURRENT $ $ $ $
Loans and Receivables 

Term Deposits

Aust. Dollar Term deposits > 3 months 5,679,825 5,391,776 5,679,825 5,391,776
Available for Sale Financial Assets

Income Securities 127,270 141,065 127,270 141,065
TOTAL CURRENT 5,807,095 5,532,841 5,807,095 5,532,841

Represented by:

Health Service Investments 127,270 141,065 127,270 141,065
Monies Held in Trust
 - Accommodation Bonds (Refundable Entrance Fees) 5,679,825 5,391,776 5,679,825 5,391,776

TOTAL 5,807,095 5,532,841 5,807,095 5,532,841

(b) Ageing analysis of other financial assets

Please refer to note 19(b) for the ageing analysis of other financial assets.  

(c) Nature and extent of risk arising from other financial assets

Please refer to note 19(b) for the nature and extent of credit risk arising from other financial assets.    

NOTE 9: INVENTORIES 2015 2014
$ $

CURRENT

Pharmaceuticals - at cost 42,743 31,846
Housekeeping Supplies - at cost 2,510 4,207
Medical and Surgical Lines - at cost 26,186 23,005
Administration Stores - at cost 5,115 5,245

TOTAL INVENTORIES 76,554 64,303

Inventories held by the Health Service are held for short periods of time with regular turnover.  There is no material loss of      
service potential in inventories held at the end of the year.

NOTE 10: PREPAYMENTS 2015 2014
$ $

Prepayments 45,353 39,408
Hume Rural Health Alliance Prepayments 2,701 1,156

TOTAL 48,054 40,564

TOTALOperating Fund
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

NOTE 11: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 2015 2014
(a) Gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation $ $

Land

 - Land at Fair Value 1,941,000 1,941,000

Total Land 1,941,000 1,941,000

Buildings

 - Buildings Under Construction at cost 1,418,468 341,946

 - Landscaping Improvements at Fair Value 386,844 380,000
Less Accumulated Depreciation 20,712 0

366,132 380,000

 - Buildings at Fair Value 17,392,000 17,392,000
Less Accumulated Depreciation 971,144 0

16,420,856 17,392,000
Total Buildings 18,205,456 18,113,946

Plant and Equipment 

 - Plant and Equipment - Hume Rural Health Alliance 27,835 16,436
 - Plant and Equipment at Fair Value 2,124,394 1,927,458

Less Accumulated Depreciation 1,433,904 1,380,770
Total Plant and Equipment 718,325 563,124

Medical Equipment 

 - Medical Equipment at Fair Value 1,911,371 1,890,050
Less Accumulated Depreciation 1,276,018 1,296,704

Total Medical Equipment 635,353 593,346

Computers and Communication 

 - Computers and Communication at Fair Value   4,600 4,600
 Less Accumulated depreciation 1,268 0
Total Computers and Communication 3,332 4,600

Furniture and Fittings 

 - Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value    344,588 324,292
Less Accumulated depreciation 252,258 227,175

Total Furniture and Fittings 92,330 97,117

Motor Vehicles 

 - Motor Vehicles at Fair Value 376,666 379,090
Less Accumulated Depreciation 167,260 185,019

Total Motor Vehicles 209,406 194,071

TOTAL 21,805,202 21,507,204
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

NOTE 11: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of each class of asset

Land and Buildings & Plant and Medical Computers Furniture Motor Total

Improvements Equipment Equipment & Commun. & Fittings Vehicles

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2013 1,155,966 11,695,723 524,198 685,795 0 78,997 158,984 14,299,663

Additions 0 314,628 171,301 31,210 0 45,253 200,172 762,564
Hume Rural Health Alliance Assets 0 0 15,397 0 0 0 0 15,397
Revaluation Increments 798,500 6,850,471 0 0 4,600 0 0 7,653,571
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 (95,609) (95,609)
Net Transfer between Classes (13,466) 30,357 (16,891) 0 0 0 0 0
Depreciation (note 4) 0 (777,233) (130,881) (123,659) 0 (27,133) (69,476) (1,128,382)

Balance at 30 June 2014 1,941,000 18,113,946 563,124 593,346 4,600 97,117 194,071 21,507,204

Additions 0 1,083,366 262,184 113,982 0 20,297 69,918 1,549,747
Hume Rural Health Alliance Assets 0 0 13,481 0 0 0 0 13,481
Useful Life Adjustments 0 0 15,000 44,250 0 0 36,000 95,250
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 (35,722) (35,722)
Depreciation (note 4) 0 (991,856) (135,464) (116,225) (1,268) (25,084) (54,861) (1,324,758)

Balance at 30 June 2015 1,941,000 18,205,456 718,325 635,353 3,332 92,330 209,406 21,805,202

Land and buildings carried at valuation

An independent valuation of the Health Service's property, plant and equipment was performed by the Valuer-General Victoria to determine the value of    
the land and buildings. The valuation, which conforms to Australian Valuation Standards, was determined by reference to the amounts for which assets    
could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction. The valuation was based on independent assessments.    

The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2014.

(c) Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 30 June 2015

Level 1 (i) Level 2 (i) Level 3 (i)

Land at fair value $ $ $ $
Specialised land 1,941,000 0 0 1,941,000
Total of land at fair value 1,941,000 0 0 1,941,000

Buildings at fair value

Specialised buildings 16,786,988 0 0 16,786,988
Total of building at fair value 16,786,988 0 0 16,786,988

Plant and equipment at fair value

Plant equipment and vehicles at fair value
- Vehicles 209,406 0 209,406 0
- Plant and equipment 813,987 0 0 813,987
Total of plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value 1,023,393 0 209,406 813,987

Medical equipment at fair value

Medical Equipment at fair value 635,353 0 0 635,353
Total medical equipment at fair value 635,353 0 0 635,353

Assets under construction at fair value

Buildings under Construction 1,418,468 0 0 1,418,468
Total assets under construction at fair value 1,418,468 0 0 1,418,468

21,805,202 0 209,406 21,595,796

Note
(i) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, see Note 1
There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

Fair value measurement at end of 

reporting period using:
Carrying 

amount as at 

30 June 2015
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30 June 2015

NOTE 11: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 30 June 2014

Level 1 (i) Level 2 (i) Level 3 (i)

Land at fair value $ $ $ $
Specialised land 1,941,000 0 0 1,941,000
Total of land at fair value 1,941,000 0 0 1,941,000

Buildings at fair value

Specialised buildings 17,772,000 0 0 17,772,000
Total of building at fair value 17,772,000 0 0 17,772,000

Plant and equipment at fair value

Plant equipment and vehicles at fair value
- Vehicles 194,071 0 194,071 0
- Plant and equipment 664,841 0 0 664,841
Total of plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value 858,912 0 194,071 664,841

Medical equipment at fair value

Medical Equipment at fair value 593,346 0 0 593,346
Total medical equipment at fair value 593,346 0 0 593,346

Assets under construction at fair value

Buildings under Construction 341,946 0 0 341,946
Total assets under construction at fair value 341,946 0 0 341,946

21,507,204 0 194,071 21,313,133

Note
(i) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, see Note 1
There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

Specialised land and specialised buildings

The market approach is also used for specialised land and specialised buildings although is adjusted for the community service obligation 
(CSO) to reflect the specialised nature of the assets being valued. Specialised assets contain significant, unobservable adjustments;
 therefore these assets are classified as Level 3 under the market based direct comparison approach.

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer’s assessment of the impact of restrictions associated with an asset to the extent that is 
also equally applicable to market participants. This approach is in light of the highest and best use consideration required for fair value 
measurement, and takes into account the use of the asset that is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. 
As adjustments of CSO are considered as significant unobservable inputs, specialised land would be classified as Level 3 assets. 

For the health services, the depreciated replacement cost method is used for the majority of specialised buildings, adjusting for the 
associated depreciation. As depreciation adjustments are considered as significant and unobservable inputs in nature, specialised
buildings are classified as Level 3 for fair value measurements.

An independent valuation of the Health Service’s specialised land and specialised buildings was performed by the Valuer-General Victoria. 
The valuation was performed using the market approach adjusted for CSO. The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2014.

Vehicles

The Health Service acquires new vehicles and at times disposes of them before completion of their economic life. 
The process of acquisition, use and disposal in the market is managed by the Health Service who set relevant depreciation rates
during use to reflect the consumption of the vehicles. As a result, the fair value of vehicles does not differ materially from the 
carrying value (depreciated cost).

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is held at carrying value (depreciated cost). When plant and equipment is specialised in use, such that it is rarely 
sold other than as part of a going concern, the depreciated replacement cost is used to estimate the fair value. Unless there is market 
evidence that current replacement costs are significantly different from the original acquisition cost, it is considered unlikely that 
depreciated replacement cost will be materially different from the existing carrying value. 

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2015. 

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.

Carrying 

amount as at 

30 June 2014

Fair value measurement at end of 

reporting period using:
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NOTE 11: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(d) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value as at 30 June 2015

$ $ $ $ $
Opening Balance 1,941,000 17,772,000 664,841 593,346 341,946
Purchases (sales) & Reclassifications 0 6,844 295,962 113,982 1,076,522
Transfers in (out) of Level 3 0 0 0 0 0

Gains or losses recognised in net result
- Depreciation 0 (991,856) (161,816) (116,225) 0
Subtotal 1,941,000 16,786,988 798,987 591,103 1,418,468

Items recognised in other comprehensive income
- Revaluation 0 0 15,000 44,250 0
Subtotal 0 0 15,000 44,250 0
Closing Balance 1,941,000 16,786,988 813,987 635,353 1,418,468

There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value as at 30 June 2014

$ $ $ $ $
Opening Balance 1,155,966 11,668,405 603,195 685,795 27,318
Purchases (sales) & Reclassifications (13,466) 30,357 215,060 31,210 314,628
Transfers in (out) of Level 3 0 0 0 0 0

Gains or losses recognised in net result
- Depreciation 0 (777,233) (158,014) (123,659) 0
Subtotal 1,142,500 10,921,529 660,241 593,346 341,946

Items recognised in other comprehensive income
- Revaluation 798,500 6,850,471 4,600 0 0
Subtotal 798,500 6,850,471 4,600 0 0
Closing Balance 1,941,000 17,772,000 664,841 593,346 341,946

There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

(e) Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations:
Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

Specialise Community
Service
Obligation
(CSO)

Specialised Buildings Direct cost per
square metre

Useful life of
specialised
buildings

Plant and equipment at fair value Cost per Unit

Useful life of
PPE

Medical equipment at fair value Cost per Unit

Useful life of
medical
equipment

Furniture & Fittings Cost per Unit

Useful life of
Furniture &
Fittings

Computers & Communication Cost per Unit

Useful life of
Computers &
Commun.

Depreciated Replacement 

Cost

Assets under 

construction

Medical 

Equipment

Valuation technique

Depreciated Replacement 

Cost

Land Buildings

Plant & 

Equipment

Depreciated Replacement 

Cost

Depreciated Replacement 

Cost

Depreciated Replacement 

Cost

Market Approach

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

Equipment

Medical 

EquipmentBuildingsLand
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

NOTE 12: PAYABLES 2015 2014
$ $

CURRENT

Contractual

Trade Creditors 348,322 692,785
Accrued Audit Fees 23,000 22,500
Hume Rural Health Alliance Payables 38,101 23,506
Other 12,599 13,504

422,022 752,295
Statutory

Department of Health and Human Services 9,940 0
Department of Health & Ageing - Commonwealth 0 20,109

9,940 20,109
TOTAL 431,962 772,404

(a) Maturity analysis of payables

Please refer to Note 19(c) for the ageing analysis of payables.

(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from payables

Please refer to note 19(c) for the nature and extent of risks arising payables.

NOTE 13: BORROWINGS 2015 2014
$ $

CURRENT

Australian Dollar Borrowings
 - Finance Lease Liability (i) (refer Note 13 (a)) 0 0

Total Current 0 0

Total Borrowings 0 0

(i) Secured by the assets leased.  Finance leases are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default.    

Amount of finance costs recognised as expenses: 0 1,109

(a) Maturity analysis of borrowings

Please refer to note 19(c) for the ageing analysis of borrowings.
(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from borrowings

Please refer to note 19(c) for the nature and extent of risks arising from borrowings.
(c) Defaults and breaches

During the current and prior year, there were no defaults and breaches of any of the loans.     
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NOTE 14: PROVISIONS 2015 2014
$ $

Current Provisions

Employee Benefits (Note 14(a))
Accrued Wages, ADO & Annual Leave (Note 14(a))
 - unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months 839,718 1,033,678
 - unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (ii) 150,000 150,000
Long Service Leave (Note 14(a))
 - unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months 150,000 150,000
 - unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (ii) 719,403 776,092

Provisions related to employee benefit on-costs
 - unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months 108,870 130,204
 - unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (ii)    95,634 101,870
Total Current Provisions 2,063,625 2,341,844

Non-Current Provisions

Employee Benefits (i) (Note 14(a)) 410,707 366,229
Provisions related to employee benefit on-costs (Note 14(a) and Note 14(b)) (ii) 45,178 40,285
Total Non-Current Provisions 455,885 406,514

Total Provisions 2,519,510 2,748,358

(a) Employee Benefits and Related On-costs

Current Employee Benefits and related on-costs

Annual Leave Entitlements 1,034,193 931,063
Accrued Salaries and Wages 51,856 375,911
Accrued Days Off 12,539 6,907
Unconditional Long Service Leave Entitlements    965,037 1,027,963
Non-Current Employee Benefits and related on-costs

Conditional Long Service Leave Entitlements (ii) 455,885 406,514

Total Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs 2,519,510 2,748,358

Notes:
(i) Employee benefits consist of annual leave and long service leave accrued by employees. On-costs such as payroll tax and worker's compensation
 insurance are not employee benefits and are reflected as a separate provision.
(ii) The amounts disclosed are at present values

(b) Movements in provisions

Movement in Long Service Leave:

Balance at start of year 1,434,477 1,312,621
Provision made during the year
 - Revaluations 23,087 6,246
 - Expense Recognising Employee Service 270,188 115,610
Settlement made during the year (306,830) 0

Balance at end of year 1,420,922 1,434,477
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NOTE 15: SUPERANNUATION

Employees of the Health Service are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the Health Service contributes to both defined benefit
and defined contribution plans.  The defined benefit plan(s) provides benefits based on years of service and final average salary.

The Health Service does not recognise any defined benefit liability in respect of the plan(s) because the entity has no legal or constructive
obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its only obligation is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due.  The
Department of Treasury and Finance discloses the State's defined benefits liabilities in tis disclosure for administered items.

However, superannuation contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits in the
comprehensive operating statement of the Health Service.  The name, details and amounts expense in relation to the major employee 
superannuation funds and contributions made by the Health Services are as follows:

Fund

2015 2014 2015 2014

$ $ $ $

Defined Benefit Plans: Health Super 17,392 26,042 0 0

Defined Contribution Plans: Health Super 492,787 401,462 0 85,762
HESTA 344,546 351,569 0 0

Total 854,725 779,073 0 85,762

NOTE 16: OTHER LIABILITIES 2015 2014
$ $

CURRENT

Monies Held in Trust*
   - Simplified Billing Trust Account 3,244 20,773

   - Accommodation Bonds ( Refundable Entrance Fees)      7,248,621 6,205,779

TOTAL CURRENT 7,251,865 6,226,552

* Total Monies Held in Trust

Represented by the following assets:

Cash and cash equivalents (refer to Note 6) 1,572,040 834,776
Investments and other Financial Assets (refer to Note 8)     5,679,825 5,391,776

TOTAL 7,251,865 6,226,552

the Year
Outstanding Contributions

at Year End
Paid Contributions for
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NOTE 17: EQUITY 2015 2014
$ $

(a) Surpluses

Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus ¹

Balance at beginning of the Reporting Period   
 - Land 1,229,000 430,500
 - Buildings 15,011,456 8,160,985
 - Plant & Equipment 4,600 0
Revaluation Increment/(Decrement)
 - Land 0 798,500
 - Buildings 0 6,850,471
 - Plant & Equipment 0 4,600
Balance at the end of the reporting period   16,245,056 16,245,056

Represented by:
 - Land 1,229,000 1,229,000
 - Buildings 15,011,456 15,011,456
 - Plant & Equipment 4,600 4,600

16,245,056 16,245,056

Total Reserves 16,245,056 16,245,056

(¹) The property, plant and equipment asset revaluation surplus arises on the revaluation of property, plant & equipment.

(b) Contributed Capital

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period   9,591,070 9,591,070
Capital Contribution received from Victorian Government   1,261,455 0

Balance at the end of the reporting period   10,852,525 9,591,070

(c) Accumulated Surpluses/(Deficits)

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period     (5,859,773) (5,433,592)
Net Result for the Year (681,663) (426,181)

Balance at the end of the reporting period    (6,541,436) (5,859,773)

(d) Total Equity at end of financial year 20,556,145 19,976,353
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NOTE  18: RECONCILIATION OF NET RESULT FOR THE YEAR TO NET CASH INFLOW / (OUTFLOW) 

FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2015 2014
$ $

NET RESULT FOR THE PERIOD (681,663) (426,181)
Non-cash movements

Depreciation 1,324,758 1,128,382
Income from useful life adjustments (95,250) 0
Provision for doubtful debts 0 (8,801)
Share of Result from Hume Rural Health Alliance (Net of Depreciation) (11,425) (16,420)

Movements included in investing and financing activities

Net (Gain)/Loss from Sale of Plant and Equipment   (7,914) 2,109

Movements in assets and liabilities

Change in Operating Assets & Liabilities
(Increase)/Decrease in Receivables 20,933 (148,578)
(Increase)/Decrease in Prepayments (5,945) (16,940)
(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories (12,251) (1,345)
Increase/(Decrease) in Payables (204,837) (17,003)
Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions (228,848) 200,887

NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 97,558 696,110

NOTE 19: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Mansfield District Hospital's principal financial instruments comprise of:

 - Cash Assets

 - Term Deposits

 - Receivables (excluding statutory receivables)

 - Investment in Equities and Managed Investment Schemes    

 - Payables (excluding statutory payables)

 - Finance Lease Payables

 - Accommodations Bonds

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, with respect to each class of financial asset,
financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements.

The Health Service's main financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.  The Health Service manages these
financial risks in accordance with its financial risk management policy.

The Health Service uses different methods to measure and manage the different risks to which it is exposed.  Primary responsibility for the 
identification and management of financial risks rests with the financial risk management committee of the Health Service.

The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage Mansfield District Hospitals financial risk
within the government policy parameters.
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NOTE 19: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Continued)

Categorisation of financial instruments

Contractual 

financial assets - 

loans and 

receivables

Contractual 

financial assets 

- available for 

sale

Contractual 

financial 

liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

2015 $ $ $ $

Contractual Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 2,127,802 0 0 2,127,802
Receivables
 - Trade Debtors 202,402 0 0 202,402
 - Other Receivables 188,339 0 0 188,339
Other Financial Assets
 - Term Deposits 5,679,825 0 0 5,679,825
 - Shares in Other Entities 0 127,270 0 127,270
Total Financial Assets (i) 8,198,368 127,270 0 8,325,638

Financial Liabilities 

Payables 0 0 422,022 422,022
Other Financial Liabilities
 - Accommodation Bonds 0 0 7,248,621 7,248,621
 - Other 0 0 3,244 3,244
Total Financial Liabilities(ii) 0 0 7,673,887 7,673,887

Contractual 

financial assets - 

loans and 

receivables

Contractual 

financial assets 

- available for 

sale

Contractual 

financial 

liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

2014 $ $ $ $

Contractual Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,667,364 0 0 1,667,364
Receivables
 - Trade Debtors 155,375 0 0 155,375
 - Other Receivables 199,078 0 0 199,078
Other Financial Assets
 - Term Deposits 5,391,776 0 0 5,391,776
 - Shares in Other Entities 0 141,065 0 141,065
Total Financial Assets (i) 7,413,593 141,065 0 7,554,658

Financial Liabilities 

Payables 0 0 752,295 752,295
Borrowings 0 0 0 0
Other Financial Liabilities
 - Accommodation Bonds 0 0 6,205,779 6,205,779
 - Other 0 0 20,773 20,773
Total Financial Liabilities(ii) 0 0 6,978,847 6,978,847

(i) The total amount of financial assets disclosed here excludes statutory receivables (i.e. GST input tax credit receivable).    
(ii) The total amount of financial liabilities disclosed here excludes statutory payables (i.e. Taxes payable).    

0 0

0 0

0 0

0

0

Contractual financial 

assets/liabilities designated at 

fair value through profit/loss

0

0
0

0

0
0

0 0

Contractual financial 

assets/liabilities designated at 

fair value through profit/loss

Contractual financial 

assets/liabilities held-for-

trading at fair value through 

profit/loss

0 0

0

0

0

0

0

$

0

0

0

$

0 0

0 0

0

0

Contractual financial 

assets/liabilities held-for-

trading at fair value through 

profit/loss

0 0

0

0 0

$ $

0 0

0 0

0
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NOTE 19: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Continued)

Net holding gain/(loss) on financial instruments by category

Total interest 

income/  

(expense) Total

$ $ $ $ $

2015

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 0 23,688 0 0 23,688
Loans and Receivables 0 269,320 0 0 269,320
Total Financial Assets 0 293,008 0 0 293,008

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost 0 0 0 0 0
Total Financial Liabilities 0 0 0 0 0

2014

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 0 22,042 0 0 22,042
Loans and Receivables 0 334,140 0 0 334,140
Total Financial Assets 0 356,182 0 0 356,182

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost 0 1,109 0 0 1,109
Total Financial Liabilities 0 1,109 0 0 1,109

Net holding 

gain/(loss)

Fee income / 

(expense)

Impairment 

loss
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NOTE 19: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the contractual financial assets of the Health Service, which comprise cash and deposits, non-statutory    
receivables and available for sale contractual financial assets.  The Health Service's exposure to credit risk arises from the   
potential default of a counter party on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Health Service.  Credit risk is   
measured at fair value and is monitored on a regular basis.

Credit risk associated with the Health Service's contractual financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is the Victorian    
Government.  For debtors other than the Government, it is the Health Service's policy to only deal with entities with high credit 
ratings of a minimum Triple-B and to obtain sufficient collateral or credit enhancements, where appropriate.

In addition, the Health Service does not engage in hedging for its contractual financial assets and mainly obtains contractual     
financial assets that are on fixed interest, except for cash assets, which are mainly cash at bank.  As with the policy for debtors,    
the Health Service's policy is to only deal with banks with high credit ratings.    

Provision of impairment for contractual financial assets is recognised when there is objective evidence that the Health Service    
will not be able to collect a receivable.  Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments, debts    
which are more than 60 days overdue, and changes in debtor credit ratings.

Except as otherwise detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of contractual financial assets recorded in the financial    
statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents Mansfield District Hospital's maximum exposure to credit risk without    
taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Financial Other Total
Institutions (Non Rated)

(Min BB credit
rating)

2015 $ $ $
Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,127,802 0 2,127,802
Loans and Receivables
 - Trade Debtors 0 202,402 202,402
 - Other Receivables (i) 0 188,339 188,339
 - Term Deposit 5,679,825 0 5,679,825
 - Other 127,270 0 127,270
Total Financial Assets 7,934,897 390,741 8,325,638

2014

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,667,364 0 1,667,364
Loans and Receivables
 - Trade Debtors 0 155,375 155,375
 - Other Receivables (i) 0 199,078 199,078
 - Term Deposit 5,391,776 0 5,391,776
 - Other 141,065 0 141,065
Total Financial Assets 7,200,205 354,453 7,554,658

(i) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian Government and 
GST input tax recoverable).
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NOTE 19: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Credit Risk (Continued)

Ageing analysis of financial asset as at 30 June 

Not Past Less than 1 - 3 3 Months 1 - 5 Impaired
Carrying due and not 1 Month Months - 1 Year Years Financial
Amount impaired Assets

2015 $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,127,802 2,127,802 0 0 0 0 0
Loans and Receivables (i)
 - Trade Debtors 202,402 101,964 75,945 4,470 20,023 0 0
 - Other Receivables 188,339 188,339 0 0 0 0 0
 - Term Deposit 5,679,825 5,679,825 0 0 0 0 0
 - Other  127,270 127,270 0 0 0 0 0

Total Financial Assets 8,325,638 8,225,200 75,945 4,470 20,023 0 0

2014

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,667,364 1,667,364 0 0 0 0 0
Loans and Receivables (i)
 - Trade Debtors 155,375 107,397 28,752 16,342 2,884 0 0
 - Other Receivables 199,078 199,078 0 0 0 0 0
 - Term Deposit 5,391,776 5,391,776 0 0 0 0 0
 - Other  141,065 141,065 0 0 0 0 0

Total Financial Assets 7,554,658 7,506,680 28,752 16,342 2,884 0 0

(i) Ageing analysis of financial assets excludes the types of statutory financial assets (i.e. GST input tax credit).

Contractual financial assets that are neither past due or impaired

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired.  Currently the Health Service does not hold 
any collateral as security nor credit enhancements relating to its financial assets.

There are no financial assets that have had their terms renegotiated so as to prevent them from being past due or impaired, and they 
are stated at their carrying amounts as indicated.  The ageing analysis table above discloses the ageing only of contractual financial 
assets that are past due but not impaired.

(c) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Health Service would be unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due.  The Health   
Service operates under the Government's fair payments policy of setting financial obligations within 30 days and in the event of a dispute, 
making payments within 30 days from the date of resolution.

The Health Service's maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed in the face     
of the balance sheet.  The Health Service manages its liquidity risk as follows:     

 - Term Deposits and cash held at financial institutions are managed with variable maturity dates and take into     
   consideration cashflow requirements of the Health Service from month to month.

Past due but not impaired
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NOTE 19: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Liquidity Risk (Continued)

The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for Mansfield District Hospital's financial     
liabilities.  For interest rates applicable to each class of liability refer to individual notes to the financial statements.

Maturity analysis of financial liabilities as at 30 June

Carrying Nominal Less than 1 - 3 3 Months 1 - 5
Amount Amount 1 Month Months - 1 Year Years

2015 $ $ $ $ $ $
Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

Payables 422,022 422,022 422,022 0 0 0
Other Financial Liabilities (i)
 - Accommodation Bonds 7,248,621 7,248,621 0 0 7,248,621 0
 - Other 3,244 3,244 0 3,244 0 0

Total Financial Liabilities 7,673,887 7,673,887 422,022 3,244 7,248,621 0

2014

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

Payables 752,295 752,295 752,295 0 0 0
Other Financial Liabilities (i)
 - Accommodation Bonds 6,205,779 6,205,779 0 0 6,205,779 0
 - Other 20,773 20,773 0 20,773 0 0

Total Financial Liabilities 6,978,847 6,978,847 752,295 20,773 6,205,779 0

(i) Ageing analysis of financial liabilities excludes the types of statutory financial liabilities (i.e. GST payable).

(d) Market Risk

Mansfield District Hospital's exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant exposure to foreign currency
currency and other price risks.  Objectives, policies and processes used to manage each of these risks are disclosed in the paragraphs below.  

Currency Risk

Mansfield District Hospital is exposed to insignificant foreign currency risk through its payables relating to purchases of supplies and consumables
from overseas.  This is because of a limited amount of purchases denominated in foreign currencies and a short timeframe between commitment
and settlement.

Interest Rate Risk

Exposure to interest rate risk's arise primarily through the Mansfield District Hospital's other financial assets.  Minimisation of risk is achieved by mainly
holding fixed rate or non-interest bearing financial instruments.  For financial assets the Health Service mainly holds financial assets with 
relatively even maturity profiles.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

The Health Service has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risks through its cash and deposits, term deposits and bank overdrafts that are
at floating rate.

The Health Service manages this risk by mainly undertaking fixed rate or non-interest bearing financial instruments with relatively even maturity
profiles, with only insignificant amounts of financial instruments at floating rate.  Management has concluded for cash at bank and bank overdraft,
as financial assets that can be left at floating rate without necessarily exposing the Health Service to significant bad risk, management monitors
movements in interest rates on a daily basis.

Other Price Risk

The Health Service is exposed to normal price fluctuations from time to time through market forces.  Where adequate notice is provided by suppliers, 
additional purchases are made for long term goods.  Supplier contracts are also in place for major product lines purchased by the  
Health Service on a monthly basis.  These contracts have set price arrangements and are reviewed on a regular basis.   

Maturity Dates
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NOTE 19: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Market Risk (Continued)

Interest Rate Exposure of Financial Assets and Liabilities as at 30 June

2015 $ $ $ $
Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2.10 2,127,802 0 2,127,802 0
Loans and Receivables (i)
 - Trade Debtors 202,402 0 0 202,402
 - Other Receivables 188,339 0 0 188,339
 - Term Deposit 3.16 5,679,825 5,679,825 0 0
 - Other  3.57 127,270 0 127,270 0

Total Financial Assets 8,325,638 5,679,825 2,255,072 390,741

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

Payables (i) 422,022 0 0 422,022
Other Financial Liabilities
 - Accommodation Bonds 7,248,621 0 0 7,248,621
 - Other 3,244 0 0 3,244

Total Financial Liabilities 7,673,887 0 0 7,673,887
2014

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2.60 1,667,364 0 1,667,364 0
Loans and Receivables (i)
 - Trade Debtors 155,375 0 0 155,375
 - Other Receivables 199,078 0 0 199,078
 - Term Deposit 3.66 5,391,776 5,391,776 0 0
 - Other  3.83 141,065 0 141,065 0

Total Financial Assets 7,554,658 5,391,776 1,808,429 354,453

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

Payables (i) 752,295 0 0 752,295
Other Financial Liabilities
 - Accommodation Bonds 6,205,779 0 0 6,205,779
 - Other 20,773 0 0 20,773

Total Financial Liabilities 6,978,847 0 0 6,978,847

(i) The carrying amount  excludes types of statutory financial assets and liabilities (i.e. GST input tax credit and GST payable)

Carrying 

Amount

Non - Interest 

Bearing

Fixed 

Interest Rate

Interest Rate Exposure

Variable 

Interest Rate

Weighted 

Average 

Effective 

Interest 

Rate (%)
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NOTE 19: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Market Risk (Continued)

Sensitivity Disclosure Analysis

Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management's knowledge    
and experience of the financial markets, the Mansfield District Hospital Service believes the following movements    
are 'reasonably possible' over the next 12 months (base rates are sourced from the Reserve Bank of Australia).    
 - A shift of 100 basis points up and down in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 6%; and
 - A parallel shift of +1% and -1% in inflation rate from year-end rates of 2%.

The following table discloses the impact on net operating result and equity for each category of interest bearing    
financial instrument held by Mansfield District Hospital at year end as presented to key management personnel,    
if changes in the relevant risk occur.

Carrying
Amount

Profit Equity Profit Equity Profit Equity Profit Equity
2015 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,127,802 (21,278) (21,278) 21,278 21,278 0 0 0 0
Loans and Receivables 
 - Trade Debtors 202,402 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 - Other Receivables 188,339 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 - Term Deposit 5,679,825 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 - Other  127,270 (1,273) (1,273) 1,273 1,273 (1,273) (1,273) 1,273 1,273

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

Payables 422,022 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other Financial Liabilities (i)
 - Accommodation Bonds 7,248,621 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 - Other 3,244 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

(22,551) (22,551) 22,551 22,551 (1,273) (1,273) 1,273 1,273
2014

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,667,364 (16,674) (16,674) 16,674 16,674 0 0 0 0
Loans and Receivables 
 - Trade Debtors 155,375 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 - Other Receivables 199,078 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 - Term Deposit 5,391,776 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 - Other  141,065 (1,410) (1,410) 1,410 1,410 (1,411) (1,411) 1,411 1,411

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

Payables 752,295 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other Financial Liabilities (i)
 - Accommodation Bonds 6,205,779 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 - Other 20,773 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

(18,084) (18,084) 18,084 18,084 (1,411) (1,411) 1,411 1,411

(i) The carrying amount excludes types of statutory financial assets and liabilities (i.e. GST input tax credit and GST payable)

+1%-1%
Other Price RiskInterest Rate Risk

-1% +1%
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NOTE 19: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Fair Value

The fair values and net fair values of financial instrument assets and liabilities are determined as follows:   
•  Level 1 - the fair value of financial instrument with standard terms and conditions and traded in active liquid    
markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices;    
•  Level 2 - the fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the financial    
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
•  Level 3 - the fair value is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted    
cash flow analysis using unobservable market inputs.

The financial assets include holdings in unlisted shares. Fair value of these is determined by projecting 
future cash inflows from expected future dividends and subsequent disposals of the securities. 
These cash flows are then discounted back to their present value using a discount rate of 5.16%    

The Health Service considers that the carrying amount of financial statements to be a fair approximation 
of their fair values, because of the short-term nature of the financial instruments and the expectation that 
they will be paid in full.

The following table shows that the fair values of most of the contractual financial assets and liabilities are    
 the same as the carrying amounts.

Comparison between carrying amount and fair value

Carrying Fair Value Carrying Fair Value
Amount Amount

2015 2015 2014 2014
$ $ $ $

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,127,802 2,127,802 1,667,364 1,667,364
Loans and Receivables (i)
- Trade Debtors 202,402 202,402 155,375 155,375
- Other Receivables 188,339 188,339 199,078 199,078
-Term Deposits 5,679,825 5,679,825 5,391,776 5,391,776
-Shares in Other Entities 127,270 127,270 141,065 141,065
Total Financial Assets 8,325,638 8,325,638 7,554,658 7,554,658

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

Payables 422,022 422,022 752,295 752,295
Other Financial Liabilities (i)
-Accommodation Bonds 7,248,621 7,248,621 6,205,779 6,205,779
-Other 3,244 3,244 20,773 20,773
Total Financial Liabilities 7,673,887 7,673,887 6,978,847 6,978,847

(i) The carrying amount excludes types of statutory financial assets and liabilities (i.e.GST input tax credit and GST payable).
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NOTE 19: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Fair Value(Continued)

Financial assets measured at fair value

Carrying Fair value measurement at the end of 
amount as 
at 30 June Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2015 $ $ $ $

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit & loss

Available for sale financial assets
Listed securities 127,270 127,270 0 0

Total Financial Assets 127,270 127,270 0 0

2014

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit & loss

Available for sale financial assets
Listed securities 141,065 141,065 0 0

Total Financial Assets 141,065 141,065 0 0

There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a 
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions 
were used to estimate fair value:

Listed securities

The listed share assets are valued at fair value with reference to a quoted (unadjusted) market price from an active market. 
The Health Service categorises these instruments as Level 1.

NOTE 20: COMMITMENTS 2015 2014
$ $

Capital expenditure commitments

Payable

Land & Buildings 0 53,000
Total capital expenditure commitments 0 53,000

Lease Commitments

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the reporting date:     
Operating Leases 18,914 34,045
Finance Leases 0 0
Total Lease Commitments 18,914 34,045

Operating Leases

Operating leases exist for a range of equipment including photocopiers, computers and theatre equipment     
Non-Cancellable

Not later than one year 15,131 15,131
Later than 1 and not later than 5 years    3,783 18,914

Total Operating Lease Commitments 18,914 34,045

Total Lease Commitments (inclusive of GST) 18,914 34,045

Less GST recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (1,719) (3,095)

Total Lease Commitments (exclusive of GST) 17,195 30,950

NOTE 21: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

There are no known contingent assets or liabilities for Mansfield District Hospital as at the date of this report.  (2014:NIL)

 reporting period using:
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

NOTE 23: JOINTLY CONTROLLED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS

Name of Entity Principal Activity 2015 2014

% %

Hume Rural Health Alliance Information Systems 4.26 4.25

Mansfield District Hospital's interest in assets employed in the above jointly controlled operations and assets is detailed below    
The amounts are included in the financial statements under their respective categories:    

2015 2014
$ $

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 17,541 10,864
Receivables 83,671 79,354
Other 2,701 1,156
Total Current Assets 103,913 91,374

Non Current Assets

Property Plant and Equipment 27,835 16,436
Total Non Current Assets 27,835 16,436
Total Assets 131,748 107,810

Current Liabilities

Payables 38,101 23,506
Total Current Liabilities 38,101 23,506
Net Assets 93,647 84,304

Equity

Accumulated Surplus/(Deficit) 93,647 84,304
Total Equity 93,647 84,304

Mansfield District Hospital's interest in revenues and expenses resulting from jointly controlled operations and assets is detailed below:    

Revenues

Operating Activities 372,378 261,645
Non-Operating Activities 461 909
Capital Purpose Income 8,541 10,625
Total Revenue 381,380 273,179

Expenses

Employee Benefits 83,944 80,587
Information Technology and Administrative Expenses 286,011 163,422
Capital Purpose Expenditure 0 12,750
Depreciation 2,082 239
Total Expenses 372,037 256,998
Net Result 9,343 16,181

Contingent Liabilities and Capital Commitments

There are no known contingent assets or liabilities for Hume Rural Health Alliance as at the date of this report.

The 2015 amounts disclosed above are based on the unaudited financial statements of the Hume Rural Health Alliance.

Ownership Interest
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

NOTE 24a: RESPONSIBLE PERSON DISCLOSURES

(a) Responsible Persons

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994, the following disclosures     
are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

Responsible Ministers:

The Honourable David Davis, MLC, Minister for Health and Minister for Ageing
The Honourable Mary Wooldridge, MLA, Minister for Mental Health and Community Services
The Honourable Martin Foley, MLA, Minister for Housing, Disability and Ageing
The Honourable Jill Hennessy, Minister for Health, Minister for Ambulance Services
The Honourable Jenny Mikakos, MLC, Minister for Families and Children

Governing Boards

Mr M. Beattie 01/07/2014 - 30/06/2015
Mr R. Beekman 01/07/2014 - 20/01/2015
Mrs G. Belle 01/07/2014 - 30/06/2015
Mrs J. Brown 01/07/2014 - 17/03/2015
Mr A. Cipa 01/07/2014 - 30/06/2015
Mr L. Foster 01/07/2014 - 14/10/2014
Assoc. Prof J. Freemantle 01/07/2014 - 30/06/2015
Mrs A. Lahore 01/07/2014 - 30/06/2015
Mr J. Madin 01/07/2014 - 30/06/2015
Mr R. Swaney 01/07/2014 - 30/06/2015

Accountable Officers

Janene Ridley (Chief Executive Officer) 01/07/2014 - 05/03/2015
Andrew Nitschke (Acting Chief Executive Officer) 05/03/2015 - 22/03/2015
Marianne Warren (Chief Executive Officer) 23/03/2015 - 30/06/2015

Remuneration of Responsible Persons

The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income bands;

Income Band

2015 2014 2015 2014
No. No. No. No.

$0 - $9999 10 10 10 10
$50,000 - $59,999 1 0 1 0
$170,000 - $179,999 0 1 0 1
$220,000 - $229,999 1 0 1 0

Total Numbers 12 11 12 11

Total remuneration received or due and receivable by Responsible

Persons from the reporting entity amount to: $278,163 $176,549 $180,528 $174,049

Amounts relating to Responsible Ministers are reported in the financial statements of the Department of Premier and Cabinet.    

Other Transactions of Responsible Persons and their Related Parties 2015 2014
The result of the period includes aggregate amounts attributable to transactions    $ $
with Responsible Persons and Responsible Persons Related Parties in respect of:

Mrs G. Belle through involvement in the business Mansfield Produce Store on normal
commercial terms and conditions 822 1,514

Total Remuneration Base Remuneration

01/07/2014 - 03/12/2014
01/07/2014 - 03/12/2014
04/12/2014 - 30/06/2015
04/12/2014 - 30/06/2015
04/12/2014 - 30/06/2015

Period
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Mansfield District Hospital

Notes to the Financial Statements 

30 June 2015

NOTE 24b: EXECUTIVE OFFICER DISCLOSURES

Executive Officers' Remuneration

The numbers of executive officers, other than Ministers and Accountable Officers, and their total remuneration during the reporting period are shown  
in the first two columns in the table below in their relevant income bands.  The base remuneration of executive officers is shown in the third and   
fourth columns.  Base remuneration is exclusive of bonus payments, long-service leave payments, redundancy payments and retirement benefits.    

2015 2014 2015 2014
No. No. No. No.

110,000 - $119,999 1 1 1 1
120,000 - $129,999 1 1 1 1
130,000 - $139,999 0 1 0 1
140,000 - $149,999 1 0 1 0
Total 3 3 3 3

Total annualised employee equivalents (AEE)(i) 3 3 3 3
Total Remuneration 387,939 371,795 383,668 367,793

(i)  Annualised employee equivalent is based on paid working hours of 38 ordinary hours per week over the 52 weeks for the
reporting period.

Note 25: REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

2015 2014

Victorian Auditor-General's Office $ $

Audit or review of financial statement 23,000 22,500
23,000 22,500

NOTE 26: EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

There have been no events subsequent to the reporting date which require further disclosure.

Total Remuneration Base Remuneration
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ERRATUM 
 

Mansfield District Hospital Annual Report 2014/2015 
 

On Page 10, first column, replace the heading Attestation on Data Integrity and the 
attestation under it with the following text: 
 
Attestation on Data Integrity 
I, Rowan Swaney, certify that the Mansfield District Hospital has put in place appropriate internal controls and processes to 
ensure that reported data reasonably reflects actual performance. The Mansfield District Hospital has critically reviewed these 
controls and processes during the year. 

 
Rowan Swaney 
Board Chair 
Mansfield 
20th August 2015 
 
 

On Page 10, first column, replace the heading Risk Management and the attestation under 
it with the following text: 
 
Attestation on Risk Management Framework and Process 
I, Rowan Swaney, certify that Mansfield District Hospital has complied with the Ministerial Standing Direction 4.5.5 – Risk 
Management Framework and Processes. The Mansfield District Hospital Audit Committee verifies this. 

 
Rowan Swaney 
Board Chair 
Mansfield 
20th August 2015 

 

Rowan Swaney 
President 

 

15 September 2015 
 
Marianne Warren 
Chief Executive Officer 

 
15 September 2015 
 
Andrew Nitschke 
Director Finance and Corporate Services 
 
 
 
15 September 2015 

 



ERRATUM 
 

Mansfield District Hospital Annual Report 2014/2015 
 
On Page 14, in the ‘Financial Sustainability Performance’ table replace the ‘Annual 
operating result ($m)’ with ‘Annual operating result ($)’ 

 
 
 

Rowan Swaney 
President 

 

15 September 2015 
 
 
 
Marianne Warren 
Chief Executive Officer 

 
15 September 2015 
 
 
 
Andrew Nitschke 
Director Finance and Corporate Services 
 
 
 
15 September 2015 
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